

ORCA - Online Research @ Cardiff

This is an Open Access document downloaded from ORCA, Cardiff University's institutional repository:https://orca.cardiff.ac.uk/id/eprint/122100/

This is the author's version of a work that was submitted to / accepted for publication.

Citation for final published version:

Abdulkarim, Muthanna , Sharma, Peeyush Kumar and Gumbleton, Mark 2019. Self-emulsifying drug delivery system: mucus permeation and innovative quantification technologies. Advanced Drug Delivery Reviews 142 , pp. 62-74. 10.1016/j.addr.2019.04.001

Publishers page: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.addr.2019.04.001

Please note:

Changes made as a result of publishing processes such as copy-editing, formatting and page numbers may not be reflected in this version. For the definitive version of this publication, please refer to the published source. You are advised to consult the publisher's version if you wish to cite this paper.

This version is being made available in accordance with publisher policies. See http://orca.cf.ac.uk/policies.html for usage policies. Copyright and moral rights for publications made available in ORCA are retained by the copyright holders.



Self-Emulsifying Drug Delivery System: Mucus Permeation and Innovative Quantification Technologies

Muthanna Abdulkarim^a, Peeyush Kumar Sharma^{a, b}, Mark Gumbleton^{a, *}

^aSchool of Pharmacy and Pharmaceutical Sciences, Cardiff University, Cardiff, UK ^bDepartment of Chemistry, Indian Institute of Technology Ropar, Rupnagar 140001 Punjab, India

ABSTRACT

Mucus is a dynamic barrier which covers and protects the underlying mucosal epithelial membrane against bacteria and foreign particles. This protection mechanism extends to include therapeutic macromolecules and nanoparticles (NPs) through trapping of these particles. Mucus is not only a physical barrier that limiting particles movements based on their sizes but it selectively binds with particles through both hydrophilic and lipophilic interactions. Therefore, nano-carriers for mucosal delivery should be designed to eliminate entrapment by the mucus barrier. For this reason, different strategies have been approached for both solid nano-carriers and liquid core nano-carriers to synthesise muco-diffusive nano-carrier. Among these nano-strategies, Self-Emulsifying Drug Delivery System (SEDDS) was recognised as very promising nano-carrier for mucus delivery. The system was introduced to enhance the dissolution and bioavailability of orally administered insoluble drugs. SEDDS has shown high stability against intestinal enzymatic activity and more importantly, relatively rapid permeation characteristics across mucus barrier. The high diffusivity of SEDDS has been tested using various in vitro measurement techniques including both bulk and individual measurement of droplets diffusion within mucus. The selection and processing of an optimum in vitro technique is of great importance to avoid misinterpretation of the diffusivity of SEDDS through mucus barrier. In conclusion, SEDDS is a system with high capacity to diffuse through intestinal mucus even though this system has not been studied to the same extent as solid nano-carriers.

Keywords: SEDDS, Mucus, Oral delivery, Mucus diffusion, Hydrophilic peptides, mucolytic

agent

Abbreviations:

BCS: Biopharmaceutics Classification System	PT: Multiple Particle Tracking		
Capmul 907 P: Propylene Glycol Heptanoate.	MSD: Mean Squared Displacement		
Capmul MCM EP: glyceryl monocaprylate.	Myrj® 52: polyoxyethylene 40 stearate		
Captex 355: Capric Triglyceride.	NAC: N-acetyl Cysteine		
CF: Cystic Fibrosis	NIKKOL HCO-40: PEG-40 hydrogenated		
	castor oil		
Cremophor RH40: PEG-40 hydrogenated castor	NIKKOL HCO-60: PEG-60 hydrogenated		
oil	castor oil		
Cremophor EL: PEG-35 hydrogenated castor	NP: Nanoparticle		
oil			
DDAB: Dimethyldioctadecylammonium	PA: 3-sn-Phosphatidic acid, 1,2-dipalmitoyl		
Bromide	sodium		
Dermofeel MCT: Glycerol tricaprylate.	PAA: Poly (acrylic acid)		
FDA: Fluorescein diacetate	PAM: poly (allylamine)		
FRAP: Fluorescence Recovery after Photo-	PEC: Polyelectrolyte		
Bleaching			
GIT: Gastrointestinal Tract	PEG: Poly (ethylene glycol)		
GSH: Glutathione	P-gp: P-glycoprotein		
HIP: Hydrophobic Ionic Pairing Technique	PGSE-NMR: Pulsed-gradient spin-echo NMR		
HLB: Hydrophilic Lipophilic Balance	SANS: Small Angle Neutron Spectroscopy		
IAP: Intestinal Alkaline Phosphatase enzyme	SEDDS: Self-Emulsifying Drug Delivery System		
Labrafac CC: Capric Triglyceride.	Soluplus®: Derivative of polyethylene glycol graft copolymer.		
Labrasol: Caprylocaproyl Polyoxyl-8	TBA-D: Thiobutyl Amidine Dodecylamine		
Kollinhor FI · PEG-35 hydrogenated castor oil	TGA-O: 2-Mercanto-N-octylacetamide		
Migylol 840: Propylene Glycol	TPGS: d-Alpha-Tocopheryl Poly(ethylene		
Dicaprylocaprate	alveol		
M wt: Molecular Weight	Transcutol: Diethylene glycol monoethyl		
	ether.		

Contents

Abbreviations i
Contents
1. General Introduction
2. Barrier Properties of Mucus 2
2.1 Compositions of Intestinal Mucus and Mucin Structure
2.2 Physicochemical Properties of Mucus
2.3 How Physicochemical Properties Affect Barrier Properties of Intestinal Mucus 5
against NPs Permeation
3. Strategies in Nanotechnologies to Improve Mucus Permeation
3.1 Solid Nanocarrier
3.1.1 Slippery Surface NPs
3.1.2 Mucolytic NPs
3.2 Mucus Permeation of Lipid Based Nano-Carrier with Liquid Core
4. Mucus Permeation of Self-Emulsifying Drug Delivery system 10
4.1 SEDDS for Delivery of Hydrophilic/Lipophilic Agents
4.2 SEDDS as a Muco-Diffusive System: Role of Glycols at the Surface of Oil
Droplets
4.3 Other Strategies to Improve Mucus Permeation of SEDDS: Mucolytic SEDDS 16
4.4 Other Strategies to Partially Improve Mucus Permeation of SEDDS 18
4.4.1 Zeta Potential Inverting SEDDS
4.4.2 Supersaturated SEDDS 19
5. Techniques to Assess the Diffusion of SEDDS through the Mucus Barrier
5.1 Transwell Chamber Techniques20
5.2 Rotating Silicone Tube
5.3 Fluorescence Recovery after Photo-Bleaching (FRAP)
5.4 Multiple Particle Tracking Technique
6. Conclusion 29
7. Progress towards Clinical Translation 30
8. Future Perspectives
Conflict of Interest
Acknowledgment

1. General Introduction

Mucus is a dynamic barrier that protects the underneath mucosal epithelial membrane in the body. Mucus barrier has a varied thickness depending on the site of the body which it can be as thin as $0.578 \,\mu\text{m}$ in the eye [1] to a thick barrier of $150 \,\mu\text{m}$ in the colon [2]. Any therapeutic agent administered through mucosal routes needs to permeate through mucus to reach the underlying epithelial membrane and be further absorbed by the systemic circulation [3]. Although permeation of small molecules through mucus barrier is not restricted process [4], macromolecules like peptides and proteins are highly susceptible to being trapped by mucus or degraded by protease enzymes in the mucus layer [5]. The incorporation of such therapeutic agents into a proper nano-system can improve their diffusion through the mucus barrier and provide protection against enzymes [6].

However, the permeation of these nano-carriers can be highly constrained due to either size exclusion by mucin network or interaction with mucus components where these interactions can be either of electrostatic or lipophilic nature [7,8]. Therefore, an ideal nano-carrier for mucosal delivery should avoid mucus entrapment [9] and shield the loaded drugs from intestinal enzymes [10]. The candidate nano-system should escape mucus clearance through fast diffusion across mucus barrier [11] and stay close to the epithelial surface to ensure a maximum absorption of the released drug close to the epithelial surface [12]. The key requirement for nano-carriers is to be permeable across mucus barrier. This aim was achieved using the following strategies: (i) synthesising of particles with hydrophilic inert surface to eliminate the possibility of interaction with mucus components, or (ii) loading of particles with mucolytic agents to reversibly disrupt the mucus barrier [13,14].

Self-Emulsifying Drug Delivery System (SEDDS) is very auspicious nano-systems. This systems can easily be formed by simply mixing ingredients [15] which makes it highly suitable

for industrial purposes since large batches can be prepared without any sophisticated technology. SEDDS was introduced to overcome the solubility issue of lipophilic agents which in turn affects their oral bioavailability [16]. Moreover, this system was found to have longer persistence in the GIT and improved drug cellular uptake [17]. More importantly, recent studies have shown that SEDDS is a very efficient nano-carrier for oral delivery of hydrophilic peptides and proteins through protecting of these peptides from GIT environment and enhance their penetration through intestinal mucus barrier [18].

The purpose of this review is to describe the mucus barrier in general and to explicitly elucidate the mechanisms by which intestinal mucus barrier traps droplets of SEDDS. The reason to focus on the intestinal mucus barrier is due to the fact that SEDDS and most of the solid nanocarriers are mainly delivered orally. We will compare the main nano-strategies to improve the permeation of solid core nanoparticles (NP) and liquid core nano-carriers across the intestinal mucus barrier. SEDDS will be reviewed extensively in relation to how the liquid core nanocarrier can improve the mucus delivery of both lipophilic and hydrophilic agents. In this review, SEDDS will be used to define all types of self-emulsifying systems including the Micro-Emulsifying and Nano-Emulsifying systems (SMEDDS/SNEDDS) since SEDDS has been used to describe these systems more recently [19]. Lastly, technologies to quantify SEDDS permeation across mucus will be outlined.

2. Barrier Properties of Mucus

2.1 Compositions of Intestinal Mucus and Mucin Structure

Generally, regardless of site in the body, mucus is mainly composed of macromolecular glycoprotein units called mucin, high water content (90-95%) and other ingredients including DNA, lipids, electrolytes, bacteria and sloughed epithelial membrane [20,21]. The ratios of these ingredients vary depending on the site of the body. Measurement of the percentages of components in dried intestinal mucus revealed the presence of 5% mucin and 6% DNA [22].

The same study showed that lipids and proteins are existed in high percentages (40%) within the intestinal dried mucus. The high lipid content in the intestinal mucus is associated with breakdown of food rich with lipids while the high DNA percentage is related to the regularly shedding of intestinal epithelial membrane [23]. At average concentration of 30 mg/ml, mucin units connect to each other via hydrogen bonding, hydrophobic and electrostatic interactions to form a network having the properties of hydrogel system [23]. This mucin network swells upon absorption of water leading to formation of gel like structure of mucus [24,25]. Structurally, mucin is a macromolecular glycoprotein having large molecular weight (M.wt) (2000-10000 kDa) [26,27]. Purified mucin units are curvilinear fibres with an average diameter of about 5–7 nm and a length of approximately 200 to 4000 nm [28,29]. Each macromolecular unit consists of 3 to 4 subunits with average M.wt of 4 x 10^5 Da [30]. Mucin subunits are large polypeptide chains that composed of glycosylated and non-glycosylated domains in a sequential manner where polypeptide chains in the glycosylated domain are densely covered with polysaccharide glycosylated side chains while non-glycosylated domains are cysteinerich domains that connecting glycosylated regions by intramolecular disulphide bonds [31]. Functionally, the main roles of mucus are lubrication, hydration and protection of the underlying epithelial membrane against mechanical stress, foreign particles and pathogens [32,33]. Hence, mucus in the GIT is relatively thick with high mechanical strength to protect against the high content of pathogens and microorganisms as well as the highly acidic environment [34,35]. Physically, intestinal mucus can be described as a semipermeable membrane from which only particles as small as nutrients and drug molecules can permeate [36]. If these molecules are stable against pH and enzymes in the GIT environment, they can be absorbed through the intestinal epithelial layer. On the other hand, crossing the gastrointestinal mucus barrier is a challenge to enzymatically labile therapeutic macromolecules like peptides due to their propensity to hydrolyse and degrade in the GIT.

Hence, these peptides must be protected from the GIT environment by encapsulation within a proper nanocarrier [13]. However, as was described above, these particles get trapped by the intestinal mucus [37]. The trapping of these NPs is due to the unique physiochemical properties of mucus [38–40].

2.2 Physicochemical Properties of Mucus

Mucin units, as the main building entities of the mucus, are mainly responsible for the physicochemical properties of mucus, specifically, through the unique chemical nature of the glycosylated protein domains and the non-glycosylated cysteine-rich protein regions. Thus, the negatively charged nature of mucus is associated with the glycosylated protein domains which are rich with sialic acid and also contains to less extent galactose sulphate ester units [41]. With a pKa of approximately 2, Sialic acid units are totally charged at the physiological pH which results in the negatively charged nature of mucus in the intestine [42]. Besides that, the negatively charged nature of mucin is also obtained from its polypeptide backbone chain which conatins both aspartic acid and glutamic acid units [43]. On the other hand, the lipophilicity of mucus is mainly due to the high lipophilicity of the cysteine-rich circular domains of mucin (Figure 1) [44]. Furthermore, the polysaccharide side chain exerts some lipophilicity within the mucin through the methyl groups of the polysaccharide fucose units [45].

Accordingly, the viscoelastic nature of mucus is directly related to the gel network of mucin which is formed through the disulphide bridges between mucin units [46]. The mechanical strength of this network is directly related to the extent of interdigitating among glycosidic side chains which results in a stable three-dimensional mucin network with higher mechanical strength [47]. The lengths of these polysaccharide side chains are responsible for the interdigitating process where long polysaccharide chains are responsible for forming of hard gel mucus while small chains are associated with forming of mucus with weak viscous properties [48].



Fig.1. Mucin macromolecular conformation.

Mucus has different mechanical and viscoelastic properties depending on where it is situated in the body. In the intestine where SEDDS and most of the solid and liquid core nano-carriers are delivered, there are two layers of mucus with different mechanical properties [49]. These are: the outer layer which is a loose structure that colonised with bacteria and inner layer which is a dense structure that is resistant to bacterial penetration [50,51]. The loose mucus layer is characterised by a shear thinning rheological behaviour which has protective lubricating effect against bacteria and foreign particles [52].

2.3 How Physicochemical Properties Affect Barrier Properties of Intestinal Mucus against NPs Permeation

The mechanism of trapping of orally given NPs and SEDDS depends on the physicochemical properties of mucus and includes two processes which occur simultaneously upon the passage of any foreign particles. Firstly, a gluey cage of mucus (Figure 2) is formed in which droplets/particles are efficiently trapped by mucus components through formation of numerous dynamic interactions of both lipophilic and hydrophilic nature [53]. Concurrently, the passage of particles/droplets under peristalsis movement exerts a shear thinning effect on the mucus layers which leads to sliding of these layers over each other and dropping of the viscosity [54]. As a result, a lubricated pathway of mucus layers with low viscosity is formed through which droplets/particles trapped in cages are moved. As a result, macromolecular NPs/SEDDS in extracellular mucus are highly trapped as compared with particles at molecular level. Ideally, NPs/SEDDS should permeate quickly through the loose intestinal mucus layer to avoid being

rapidly eliminated with the loose mucus clearance [10]. This allows enough time for the complete release of drug molecules adjacent to the epithelial membrane.



Fig. 2. Trapping mechanism of intestinal mucus towards orally administered particles/droplets.

3. Strategies in Nanotechnologies to Improve Mucus Permeation

Nanotechnologies that have been explored for mucus permeation include solid nano-carriers and lipid based liquid nano-carriers like liposomes and SMEDDS. Solid NPs provide the opportunity for surface modifications to form inert or electrostatically neutral surfaces which can minimize their mucus interaction and consequentially allow permeation [55,56]. On the other hand, lipid based liquid nano-carriers can offer enhanced leverage towards mucus permeation by virtue of their flexible structure and ability to squeeze through the mucus networks [18]. Both nano-systems offer the ability for tuning of their particle sizes and the capacity to be loaded with various hydrophilic and lipophilic agents [57,58].

3.1 Solid Nano-Carrier

A variety of strategies were examined to improve the mucus diffusivity of solid nano-carriers. These strategies have been classified into three fundamental categories: (i) formation of slippery surface nano-carriers by modulating of particles' surface properties to enhance their diffusion through the mucus barrier (ii) formation of mucolytic nano-carriers to reversibly disrupt the mucus barrier (iii) a combination of slippery surface and mucolytic particles where a mucolytic agent is loaded onto a surface modified nanocarrier to allow synergistic permeation.

3.1.1 Slippery Surface NPs

This strategy was adopted from certain viruses with inert neutral surfaces like poliovirus and human papilloma which were found to diffuse freely across mucus barrier [59]. These mucus diffusive viruses are covered with densely-charged but neutral capsid shell (without lipophilic membrane) [60] to avoid any electrostatic/H-Bond interactions with mucus [61]. Similarly, inert surface NP is a NP in which the neutral hydrophilic surface totally covers the internal lipophilic core [62] to avoid lipophilic interaction and an inert neutral surface to avoid any electrostatic/H-bond interaction with the mucus components [63].

Two strategies have been utilised to form slippery NPs with inert surface properties. The first is through coating of NP with a neutral hydrophilic polymer such as PEG polymer. The mucus permeability of densely PEGylated NPs has been deeply explored in term of the effect of degree of surface PEGylation on their diffusion [55]. Studies on different mucus sources revealed that densely PEGylated NPs have high diffusion across vaginal mucus [64], cystic fibrosis (CF) mucus [65] and respiratory mucus [66]. Accordingly, other hydrophilic surfactants were examined for formation of inert surface NPs and their permeation through mucus [67]. For example, hydrophilic pluronic surfactant with low M.wt was used to coat PLGA NPs where coated particles showed high diffusion across chronic rhinosinusitis mucus that is retarded by only 20 times in comparison with its free diffusion in water [68]. The second strategy used to form inert surface NP involves mixing of polymers with opposite charges as such alginate (-ve) and chitosan (+ve) where electrostatic interaction leads to precipitation of polyelectrolyte (PEC) polymer in nanoscale range to form PEC NPs with a densely neutrally charged surface [69]. For example, self-assembled polyelectrolyte NPs of poly(acrylic acid) (PAA) and poly(allylamine) (PAM) show a diffusion coefficient of 2.5 times higher than the positively

charged NPs and around two times the diffusion of (-ve) PAA NPs [70]. Similarly, condensation of the negatively charged DNA with the positively charged dimethyldioctadecylammonium bromide (DDAB) on the surface of PLGA NP particles show a tenfold higher diffusion coefficient to that of the same size lipophilic NP [71]. Other coating mixtures such as dextran–protamine (near neutrality charge) was reported to increase mucus permeability of solid lipid NPs [72].

3.1.2 Mucolytic NPs

Mucolytic agents can vastly enhance the NPs diffusion across mucosal barrier through reversible destruction of the mucin network [73] where loading into and releasing of these agents from NPs reduce the resistance of mucus towards the permeation of NPs [73]. Three types of mucolytic agents have been utilised to improve NPs permeation across mucus [74]. Firstly are disulfide breaking agents which cleave disulfide bonds within mucin network. These agents are exemplified by N-acetyl cysteine (NAC), dithiotreitol and glutathione. Secondly are proteolytic agents which break mucin's peptide bonds (bromelain, trypsin and papain). Thirdly are DNA hydrolysing agents which split DNA tangles that entangled within the mucin network [75,76].

Muller el al. showed that polyacrylic acid (PAA) NP loaded with the papain proteolytic agent has three times faster diffusion through intestinal porcine mucus than the PAA NPs containing no papain [77]. *In vivo* examination of PAA-papain NPs in the Sprague Dawley rats showed an extended residence time in the jejunum which indicates high permeability through the mucus loose layer [78]. On the other hand, disulfide breaking agent represented by NAC significantly increased the permeation of $3.2 \,\mu$ m polystyrene micro-particles through rat intestinal mucus [79]. Moreover, a mucolytic agent can be used as adjuvant factor in combination with modified surface NPs to boost the mucus diffusion of inert surface NPs where this combination can have a synergistic effect. For instance, prior treatment of CF mucus with disulfide breaking agent (NAC) showed a synergistic effect on the diffusion coefficient of surface-modified particles with PEG where the diffusion of particles with combined strategies approached its free diffusion in water. Conversely each of the strategies applied separately had limited improvement on mucus permeation [80].

3.2 Mucus Permeation of Lipid Based Nano-Carrier with Liquid Core

Liposomes and SEDDS are the main lipid based nano-carriers with liquid core being investigated for oral delivery of peptides [81,82]. While SEDDS has been studied in more depth, liposomes have been reported in a few publications for their ability to permeate through the mucus barrier. This drug delivery system consists of an aqueous core covered by multiple or singular bilayers made of biocompatible lipids of natural or synthetic origin. This unique form of Liposomes provides an opportunity to load both water soluble and lipophilic agents in their aqueous cores or lipid bilayer respectively [83].

Modification of liposomes' surfaces was utilised to enhance oral delivery of proteins with the intent to have high mucus permeation [84]. Specifically, slippery liposome coated with an inert PEG polymer was the main strategy to enable muco-diffusive liposomes. For example, work by Sanders et al. where lipoplex densely covered with inert PEG (5000) was used for gene transfection [85]. This study showed that the PEGylated lipoplexes had better gene transfection efficiency by virtue of minimal interaction with CF mucus as compared to cationic lipoplexes. In a similar study for oral delivery of cyclosporine, liposome was coated with inert an hydrophilic polymer (Pluronic F-127) in comparison with chitosan coat [86]. The study showed that liposome coated Pluronic F-127 expressed higher diffusion through intestinal mucus,

higher stability in the GIT environment and double the bioavailability of the liposomes coated with chitosan.

Another study showed that PEGylated liposomes permeated 10% slower through vaginal mucus compared to its movement in water with the diffusion being proportional to PEG density on the surface of liposomes [87]. The PEGylated Liposomal system was also found to be effective in the delivery of oligonucleotides based antibiotics against H. Pylori at the surface of gastric epithelia. PEGylated liposomes improved the mucus permeation of these oligonucleotides agents which on their own were found to be highly trapped due to the macromolecular nature of these antibiotics [88].

4. Mucus Permeation of Self-Emulsifying Drug Delivery system

4.1 SEDDS for Delivery of Hydrophilic/Lipophilic Agents

This system is an isotropic mixture of oils, aqueous phase and emulsifiers in which oil phase and emulsifiers can be simultaneously transformed into nano-droplets upon contacting any aqueous solvents such as intestinal fluids [89]. Oil and surfactants combinations can be diluted in the excess GIT fluid to form these systems [90]. This unique formation mechanism makes these systems highly suitable for oral delivery. A further convincing reason for suitability of SEDDS for oral nano-delivery is that the preparation of these systems do not require sluggish size reduction techniques associated with other nanosystems [91]. For oral administration of SEDDS, the combination of oils and surfactants are generally administered via a gastroresistant capsular system so that the acidic barrier of the stomach can be avoided. The capsule consequently gets into intimate contact with intestinal fluid once reaching the intestine; SEDDS is readily formed with nano sized droplets. The emulsification process is spontaneous due to the usage of more than one surfactant and/or co-surfactant for the formation of SEDDS which can minimise the interfacial tension between the two phases when they come in contact [92,93]. This combination usually comprises short or medium chain triglyceride oils along with surfactant/co-surfactant mixtures consisting of the derivatives of glycerides and non-ionic surfactants with high HLB value [94,95].

SEDDS is a very efficient system to deliver lipophilic drugs from Class 2 and 4 in the Biopharmaceutics Classification System (BCS) since SEDDS can improve their solubility by dissolving them in the oil phase and preventing precipitation in the GI tract [93]. The choice of oil phase is mainly based on the solubility of the lipophilic agent in it. The selected oil should improve the loading capacity and sustain the release profile to avoid drug precipitation. Indeed, SEDSS can eliminate the factors that reduce the bioavailability of BCS4 represented by low solubilisation, enzymatic degradation, gut wall efflux and low permeability [96]. Besides improving the solubilisation of BCS4 drugs, SEDD systems are characterised by high concentrations of surfactants/co-surfactants which can reversibly disrupt intestinal epithelial membrane and enhance the intestinal permeability of these agents [97]. SEDDS can also inhibit the gut wall efflux through the inhibition of P-glycoprotein (P-gp) [98]. I.e., P-gp is a transporter protein served as efflux pump so substrate of these transporters will permeate higher if P-gp is inhibited.

The inhibitory mechanism is related to certain types of surfactants used in SEDDS which can influence the efflux role of P-gp through modifying the structure of lipids within the epithelial membrane [99]. Surfactants like PEG based surfactants, TPGS (d-Alpha-Tocopheryl Poly(ethylene glycol), polysorbate 80 [100], polyoxyethylene 40 stearate (Myrj® 52) [101] and cremophor EL [102] were reported to inhibit P-gp efflux and improve the bioavailability of P-gp substrate agents. In addition to the effect on P-gp, surfactants like Polysorbate 80, TPGS, sucrose laurate, Cremophor RH 40 and Cremophor EL (PEG-40 and PEG-35 hydrogenated castor oil) can supress the enzymatic activity of cytochrome P450 3A4-mediated and hence it can influence the pharmacokinetics of these enzymes substrate agents [103].

SEDDS containing Cremophor RH40 or Tween 80 have shown inhibitory effect on cytochrome P450 3A in murine hepatocytes model [104].

Beside the main use of SEDDS for the delivery of hydrophobic agents, recently, this system was explored as a carrier for orally administered hydrophilic macromolecules which are prone to intestinal enzymatic degradation. To be loaded into the oil phase, these hydrophilic agents are turned into hydrophobic agents through a technique known as the Hydrophobic Ionic Paring technique (HIP) [105]. This HIP technique includes the pairing of peptides with a macromolecular hydrophobic counter ion which turns the peptides into hydrophobic agents with high oil solubility. Designing this technology enables the loading of peptide/proteins into SEDDS to provide a high protection against enzymatic degradation.

4.2 SEDDS as a Muco-Diffusive System: Role of Glycols at the Surface of Oil Droplets

Originally, the main purpose of employing SEDDS for oral delivery of hydrophobic agents is to boost their bioavailabilities by improving both their solubility and loading capacity [106]. In other words, the mucus barrier is not the limiting step for the permeation of hydrophobic agents. SEDDS has not been utilized to enhance the diffusion of lipophilic agents across the intestinal mucosal barrier. Therefore, studying the diffusion of a lipophilic drug loaded into SEDDS through the mucus barrier has rarely been reported. For example, Sunazuka et al. used SEDDS to load a class 2 agent (Fenofibrate) then studied the permeation of the system through the mucus barrier consisting of 3% (w/w) porcine gastric mucin layer using the Transwell Membrane technique [107]. This study showed that SEDDS containing a surfactant with a lower M.wt PEG NIKKOL HCO-40 (PEG-40 hydrogenated castor oil) exhibited higher mucus permeation compared to the system containing PEG with higher M.wt NIKKOL HCO-60 (PEG-60 hydrogenated castor oil).

The mucus barrier and mucosal enzymes are the main reasons that limit the oral delivery of peptides [108]. Hence, more recently, utilising of SEDDS as a nano-carrier to improve their mucus permeation has been extensively studied. There are a number of reasons for this. Firstly, SEDDS can provide effective protection against enzymatic degradation due to their efficient encapsulation and sustained release capability which renders a free peptide unavailable which in turn extremely minimise their hydrolysis by the enzymatic activity in the intestine [109,110]. The HIP technique, as was described above, has been used as the main pathway to improve loading of peptides into SEDDS systems. The HIP of peptides was widely studied to explore the best pathways to improve the loading of peptides into SEDD systems. For example, Griesser et al. investigated a variety of ion pairing surfactants and their complexation efficiency with different peptides like leuprorelin, insulin and desmopressin [111]. Sodium docusate emerged as the most efficient ion paring agent irrespective of the peptides, which translated into efficient loading capacity into a SEDDS model. The second reason to make SEDDS an excellent nano-carrier of peptide through intestinal mucus barrier is the high content of surfactants within the SEDDS which can highly reduce the intestinal enzymatic activity against loaded peptides [112].

However, high permeation across the intestinal mucosal barrier is the main reason to utilise SEDDS as a nano-carrier for peptides mucus delivery. SEDDS can improve the mucus permeation of macromolecular peptides due to the flexible nature of the fluidic droplet and the high hydrophilic nature of the droplets' surface [113]. Interestingly, most of the published work on SEDDS with high diffusivity across intestinal mucus barrier exhibited a mutual factor. This factor is the presence of a glycol moiety within the surfactants/co-surfactants compositions of the SEDDS. The mucus-diffusive SEDDS that is reported in the literature is mainly composed of surfactant/co-surfactant of polyglycol derivatives of glycerides. Thus, it seems that these glycol moieties at the surface of oil droplets form a muco-inert hydrophilic surface that avoids

the interaction of oil droplets with mucus components in a similar mechanism of PEGylated solid NPs and PEGylated liposomes.

For this reason, the majority of the published work on the improvement of mucus permeation of peptides employing SEDDS involve use of the HIP technique, with loading of the ion paired lipophilic peptide into a SEDDS with glycol moiety at the surface. For example, Zupančič et al. demonstrated that complexation of daptomycin peptide with a dodecylamine hydrochloride improved its lipophilicity and loading capacity into the SEDDS system comprising an oil phase consisting of Dermofeel MCT (Glycerol tricaprylate) and Capmul MCM EP (glyceryl monocaprylate) and PEG based nonionic surfactants consisting of Cremophor RH40 and Cremophor EL [114]. This SEDD system improved the permeation of daptomycin twofold through pig intestinal mucus. The same researcher demonstrated a similar advantage of HIP and loading into SEDDS on the oral delivery of enoxaparin peptide. Incorporation of this peptide into a SEDDS with medium chain length lipids in which the surfactant mixture is compsed of 30% Cremophor EL (PEG ethers of hydrogenated castor oil) and 10% propylene glycol improved the mucus permeation twofold and improved its oral bioavailability [115].

Hintzen et al. also reported the protective effect of incorporating leuprolide (ion paired with sodium oleate) into a SMEDDS system composed of Capmul MCM and captex 355 as oils and a surfactant mixture of Cremophor EL (PEG ethers) and 10% propylene glycol [116]. The enzymatic degradation in a trypsin solution of leuprolide oleate loaded into the SEDDS was compared with a loading of the free leuprolide acetate and the leuprolide acetate. Figure 3 shows that SEDDS significantly enhanced the stability of leuprolide oleate loaded into SEDDS expressed a fast degradation. *In vivo* studies showed an improved oral bioavailability of leuprolin in rat models.

SEDDS is one of the widely exploited nano-systems to enhance the bioavailability and mucus diffusivity of insulin [117]. Karamanidou et al. explored the hydrophobic ion pairing of insulin with dimyristoyl phosphatidylglycerol to improve its hydrophobicity and loading capacity into an SEDDS containing a derivative of PEG emulsifier (Cremophor EL) [118]. The stability of insulin in a solution of common intestinal enzymes was highly improved indicated efficient shielding by the system and up to 40% permeation after six hours across purified porcine intestinal mucus in transwell inserts.



Fig.3. Degradation profile in a trypsin solution of free leuprolide acetate (0), leuprolide acetate loaded into SEDDS (Δ) and leuprolide oleate loaded into SEDDS. Values are expressed as mean \pm SD (n= 3). Adopted from Hintzen et al. [116].

The intestinal mucus permeation of another peptide used for diabetes mellitus treatment (exenatide) was studied from SEDDS, prepared using Cremophor EL (PEG) as surfactant and Propylene glycol as cosolvent. Hydrophobic ion pairing of exenatide with sodium docusate improved the hydrophobicity of the peptide (logP 2.1) and the loading capacity [119]. Mucus permeation of exenatide loaded into SEDDS was enhanced by 2.7 times and oral bioavailability of 14.62 % was achieved compared to the subcutaneous application. The SEDDS system was reported to improve the intestinal mucus permeation of another peptidic drug (octreotide) where this peptide was ion paired and loaded into a SEDDS comprising BrijO10,

octyldodecanol, propylene glycol and ethanol [113]. This SEDD system showed a very high diffusion coefficient through pig intestinal mucus, high stability against intestinal lipase enzymes and significant increase in bioavailability. The same group showed the same outcome of improving the mucus permeation of desmopressin peptide by using SEDDS with glycol surfactants [120].

Ijaz et al. [121] employed a SEDDS strategy to protect a model peptide (lanreotide) which is susceptible to sulphide-thiol exchange owing to a disulphide linkage present in its molecule. These disulphide groups can interact with the intrinsic reduced glutathione (GSH) and reduce them into thiols and thus degrade the peptides. Lanreotide was efficiently paired with sodium deoxycholate then incorporated within a system composed of Capmul MCM (oil) and a surfactant mixture of Kolliphor EL(PEG-35 hydrogenated castor oil) and Migylol 840 (Propylene Glycol Dicaprylocaprate). The formulation exhibited a significant protection against GSH and enriched casein peptone within the first three hours with 50% of lanreotide remaining intact. A similar protection against Glutathione was reported for Desmopressin where an ion paired with Sodium docusate was loaded onto a SEDDS composed of Capmul 907 P (Propylene Glycol Heptanoate) as oil and Cremphor RH40 and Transcutol (Diethylene glycol monoethyl ether) as surfactants[122].

4.3 Other Strategies to Improve Mucus Permeation of SEDDS: Mucolytic SEDDS

unhealthy mucus in CF and other pathological conditions is characterised by atypical viscosity and water content where mucolytic agents can be highly effective to eliminate the entrapment efficiency of mucus [123]. A rational approach to achieve better muco-penetration can involve localised micro-mucolysis around the droplets to weaken mucus viscosity and thus improve droplets permeation [73,77]. The aim is to load the SEDDS with a mucolytic agent with the ability to slowly release the agent during the transit of droplets through the mucus in order to reduce the mucus resistance to the moving droplets without inducing a massive destruction to the whole mucus barrier. This strategy has shown a great improvement in the mucus permeation of SEDDS. Leichner et al. investigated the potential of a mucolytic protease enzyme (Papain ion paired with Sodium deoxycholate by HIP) to disrupt intestinal mucus barrier [124]. In this study, SEDDS system loaded with papain- deoxycholate exhibited up to twofold higher diffusion across intestinal mucus barrier compared with the unloaded SEDDS.

A more exhaustive study to understand the effect of mucolytic agents like bromelain, papain and trypsin was conducted by Efiana et al. [125]. The enzymes were ion paired with a hydrophobic surfactant (palmitoyl chloride) with a maximum conjugation of up to 47.8% for papain compared with other peptides. Mucus permeation of papain-Palmitate loaded into a SEDDS with a derivative of PEG surfactant was found to be around 5 times higher than unloaded SEDDS when measured using the Transwell Method. In another study, Rohrer et al. exploited the capacity of thiol groups to break the disulfide linkages of the mucus network using two novel thiomers, thio butyl amidine dodecyl amine (TBA-D) and 2-mercapto-Noctylacetamide (TGA-O) [126]. The incorporation of TBA-D and TGA-O incorporated into a SEDDS formulation (propylene glycol 10%) resulted in a reduction of the dynamic viscosity. Multiple Particle Tracking (MPT) studies on these systems diffusion revealed a high difference in the diffusion of the SEDDS loaded with TBA-D (66 folds) compared with thiol free SEDDS.

4.4 Other Strategies to Partially Improve Mucus Permeation of SEDDS

4.4.1 Zeta Potential Inverting SEDDS

The surface charge of oil droplets is an important parameter that can affect the diffusivity of the SEDDS in a similar manner to solid NPs [68]. The surface of an oil droplet should be

neutral or slightly negatively charged to avoid any electrostatic or ionic interaction with the mucus components having sialic and sulfonic acid residues [127]. However, a negatively charged droplet would be significantly impeded for endocytosis mediated absorption at the intestinal epithelial interface [128]. The mutually opposite requirement of surface charge at the two subsequent interfaces can be achieved using a system capable of reversing its zeta potential in response to certain variables at these interfaces and thereby achieve efficient mucus permeation as well as cellular absorption.

Suchaoin et al. demonstrated that when formulating a SEDDS containing 1,2-dipalmitoyl-snglycero-3-phosphatidic acid sodium (PA), it formed a negatively charged system which favoured efficient mucus permeation. However, because this PA is a synthetic substrate of intestinal alkaline phosphatase enzyme (IAP), rapid cleavage of anionic phosphates from PA took place when the SEDDS reached the intestinal epithelia, where IAP are overexpressed. This inverted the overall surface charge of SEDDS from -ve to +ve providing improved permeability across the intestinal epithelial membrane. The enzymatic cleavage and subsequent release of anionic phosphate groups was ascertained using caco-2 monolayer in vitro studies expressing IAPs and using male SD rat intestine fixed in an Ussing-type chamber (ex vivo). In both cases, the released phosphate was measured using malachite green assay. The in vitro studies showed a 12.3% release of the total phosphate, the ex vivo experiment (rat intestine) suggested a fast release of 23.1% [129]. Further work reported by Griesser showed that SEDDS, comprising phosphorylated polysaccharides (hydroxypropyl starch phosphate and maize starch phosphate), achieved higher mucus permeation as compared to control groups due to the net negative charge provided by the phosphate groups [130]. Subsequently, these phosphate groups were cleaved down by IAP at the intestinal epithelia which inverted the surface charge from negative to positive and thus could facilitate intestinal absorption in vivo.

Recently, a conjugate of phosphorylated tyrosine with octadecylamine was reported to be a flip-flop agent possessing both negative and positive charge groups within the same molecule [131]. This agent when incorporated into a SEDDS would initially impose a negative charge on the surface due to phosphate groups and provide efficient mucus permeation of the nanodroplets. The surface charge would alter significantly after exposure to IAP and subsequent cleavage of phosphate groups would leave the amine groups to populate onto the surface and provide a positive charge to the nano-droplets which in turn would cause intestinal absorption and inhibit back diffusion.

4.4.2 Supersaturated SEDDS

The use of considerably large amounts of surfactants in these systems pose the danger of GI side effects [132,133]. A novel class of SEDDS has recently emerged where SEDDS is composed of lower concentrations of surfactants and a precipitation inhibitor to achieve a supersaturated state of a drug in the intestinal fluid. This strategy can be achieved by utilizing a hydrophilic polymeric system along with the surfactants which will inhibit the crystallization of the loaded drug. Thus this strategy enables the poorly water soluble drugs to reach their supersaturated state within the SEDDS and still not-precipitated [134].

In a study reported by Lee et al. Soluplus® (derivative of polyethylene glycol graft copolymer) was employed to prevent precipitation due to high drugs concentration and thus forming a supersaturated SEDDS for the delivery of dutasteride [135]. The system achieved a 1.3-fold higher bioavailability for dutasteride in rats in comparison with pristine SEDDS and a 2-fold improvement in maximum plasma drug concentrations.

Thomas et al. developed a supersaturated SEDDS system through freeze-thawing approach to stabilise Simvastatin (a poorly water-soluble drug) at supersaturating concentrations. *In vivo* studies showed significant improvements in oral bioavailability and terminal half-life

compared with the control SEDDS [136]. Similarly, oral bioavailability of Silybin was found to be improved as much as 3-fold compared to conventional SEDDS when HPMC (Hydroxy Propyl Methyl Cellulose) was employed as a precipitation inhibitor in a SEDD system composed of SLB, Labrafac CC (Capric Triglyceride), Cremophor RH40, Labrasol (Caprylocaproyl Polyoxyl-8 glycerides) [137].

5. Techniques to Assess the Diffusion of SEDDS through the Mucus Barrier

The quantification of diffusion of NPs or SEDDS through mucus barrier posed great difficulties to researchers [138]. Mucus barrier properties can be highly affected during the experiment, for example, atmospheric factors can increase the humidity or dryness of mucus sample in the *in vitro* testing which in turn can affect the diffusion data of particles/droplets through mucus [139]. Designing of the *In vitro* test should be carried carefully to avoid equivocal results leading to misjudgement of the diffusivity of particles/droplets through the mucus laden barrier. This review will describe only the techniques that have been reported in previous work to quantify the permeability of SEDDS in mucus. Other sophisticated techniques like Pulsed-Gradient Spin-Echo NMR (PGSE-NMR) [140] that widely utilized to quantify the diffusion of NPs in mucus but not for SEDDS will not be reported in this review. Similarly, less frequently used techniques with SEDDS like Small Angle Neutron Spectroscopy (SANS) will not be described in this review [141]

5.1 Transwell Chamber Techniques

The method is considered to be the most frequently utilized technique to measure the permeation of SEDDS across a static layer of mucus. The technique is essentially composed of a parallel or vertical arrangement of donor and acceptor chambers which are separated through a mucus barrier loaded between two layers of membranes. The quantification of permeated SEDDS is associated with the quantity of drug in the receptor media indicating the crossing of

drug and SEDDS through the mucus barrier. The receptor compartment is filled with a suitable buffer in which the drug/dye is highly soluble [142,143].

This technique is simple, cost effective and flexible in terms of changing the parameters during the experiments. For example, with this technique, it is possible to use a small receptor compartment which enables testing the permeation at low drug doses. Also the Transwell Chamber Technique allows to change the mucus constituents throughout the course of the experiment to resemble some pathological circumstances [144]. In this regard, Boegh et al. (2015) utilised alternative method in which caco-2 cells were grown first then porcine intestinal mucus was added to form mucosal layer inserted between the two vertical compartments [3,145]. This technique, however, measures the bulk permeation only of the loaded drug/dye but it does not measure the behavioural movement of individual particles/droplets in the mucus [144]. Also, this method takes considerably long time to allow drug movement through the layer of mucus. This delay might suffice the chances of mucus enzymatic degradation or diluting the mucus sample which in turn cause leaking of mucus into receptor chamber [146].

The method has been widely used to test the mucus permeation of SEEDS. Friedl et al. set a Transwell Technique to study the factors affecting the permeation of SEDDS through a pig intestinal mucus layer where the crude mucus was centrifuged at high speed to yield a robust packed mucus layer [147]. The study showed that SEDDS with smaller particle size (12 nm) expressed about nine times higher diffusion than the SEDDS with particle sizes of 455 nm. Accordingly, Zupančič et al. assessed the permeation of a peptide (daptomycin ion-paired with dodecylamine hydrochloride) loaded into an SEDDS versus the free permeation of the SEDDS that dissolved in buffer and was added into the receptor compartment [114]. In this study, Transwell inserts having a pore size of 3 micron were employed to minimise the membrane effect and 50 mg of mucus was added onto the membrane to form a layer of 100–150 µm thickness to mimic the mucus intestinal barrier. The study suggested that the permeation of

daptomycin loaded into the SEDDS was significantly higher than that of free daptomycin (Figure 4).

Mucus diffusion of Desmopressin-docusate loaded into a variety of SEDDS formulations (with varying particle size and zeta potential) was determined utilizing a Transwell Method analogous to Friedl et al. [58]. The comparison was also conducted with other nano-carriers including liposomes and Polyacrylic acid-based NP as reference. The Transwell studies indicated an unequivocal improvement in the mucus permeation capabilities of SEDDS as compared to reference nano-carriers. This study also showed that SEDDS with a smaller particle size (25 nm) and most negatively charged (zeta potential -25 mV) is the most effective muco-diffusive compared with other SEDDS [58]. The Transwell method was utilized to understand the influence of papain on the mucus diffusion of a SEDDS [124]; to understand the mucus penetration profiles of phosphorylated zeta potential changing SEDDS [130]; and for the determination of the permeation potential of curcumin loaded into SEDDS [148].



Fig. 4. Free daptomycin diffusion in phosphate buffer pH 6.8 (as white bars) compared to the diffusion of daptomycin loaded into SEDDS (black bars) through the pig intestinal mucus

barrier utilizing Transwell technique. All data are reported as mean \pm SD (n= 3). Adopted from Zupančič et al. [114].

5.2 Rotating Silicone Tube

This technique is similar to other traditional techniques where it involves the measurement of the bulk movement of particles, dyes or drugs in a mucus sample confined in a tube [56]. The process is simple; mucus is added to a tube (usually silicon based tubing) being closed from one end with a cap. The length of the tube can be up to 5 cm and the diameter up to 0.4 cm. Then SEDDS (loaded with a dye or drug) is added through the open end, which is then locked using a separate cap and the tube is kept rotating horizontally at 37 °C for a predetermined time (8-24 hours) [149]. The tubes, after that, are frozen at -80 °C for about 1 hour and then cut into 2 mm pieces starting from the end where particles were added and finally the quantity of drug/dye is measured within each piece.

The technique enables measurement of how deep particles can diffuse through a mucus sample and also quantifies the permeation of these particles which can be described in relation to the rate of diffusion of the tested SEDDS. Moreover, this cost-effective technique enables variation of the content of mucus within the tube where mucus with different properties can be filled within each tube segment [150]. However, the quantification process involved reflects the amount of loaded drug/dye that is diffused through the mucus and not the quantity of the SEDDS where the loaded cargo can be released in the mucus during the time of experiment.

The Bernkop-Schnürch group have widely the rotating silicone tube method to assess SEDDS permeation in mucus. For example, Suchaoin et al. tested the diffusion of a zeta potential changing SEDDS loaded with Lumogen red through a pig intestinal mucus sample using the rotary tube technique where the crude mucus was washed with 0.1 M sodium chloride then centrifuged at 9000 rpm prior to the experiment [129]. Quantifying the Lumogen red in subsequent segments of the tube enabled the study of the effect of shifting the surface charge on the diffusion of the SEDDS. Negatively charged SEDDS permeated efficiently at the early

stage of the experiment whereas, within time, converting the SEDDS into a positively charged system led to trapping in the mucus.

Zupanc'ic' et al. utilized this technique to study the permeability of SEDDS loaded with Fluorescein diacetate (FDA) in a system formulated with varied chain length lipids (long to small chain lipid versus no lipid). The study showed the diffusion of SEDDS with no lipids was higher than the diffusion of other tested systems [151]. Similarly, the same group used the rotary tube technique to understand the influence of different mucolytic agents on the relative movement of a SEDDS consisting of Captex 355 (Capric Triglyceride), Kolliphor EL and propylene glycol [152]. This study showed that the SEDDS loaded with papain had a higher diffusion through mucus compared with the same system loaded with other mucolytic agents.

5.3 Fluorescence Recovery after Photo-Bleaching (FRAP)

FRAP is a broadly employed technique to quantify the bulk movement of fluorescently labelled particles/droplets in mucus and any viscous solution or hydrogel biopolymer [153].

This technique involves inoculation of a SEDDS loaded with fluorescent dye into the biopolymer sample on a microscopic slide sealed with a coverslip and placed under fluorescence microscopy. The sample is left for 15 minutes for equilibration then a confined zone of the mucus sample is exposed to a high intensity laser beam for few seconds resulting in bleaching of the fluorescently tagged droplets. The fresh (unbleached) fluorescent droplets tend to relocate to already bleached section within the biopolymer sample leading to regain the strength of the fluorescence signal at that section. The bulk diffusion is calculated based on the time difference between the loss and regaining of fluorescent signal [154].

In the last decade, this technique was used to measure the diffusion of viruses and peptides. For examples, the bulk diffusions of a huge number of different sizes fluorescent peptides as well as viruses were quantified by FRAP to understand the effect size and surface properties on their diffusions in mucus [61]. Saltzman et al. [155] utilised this method to understand the factors affecting the movement of antibodies in cervical mucus. Accordingly, Afdhal [156]expanded the use of FRAP to study the effect of mucin concentration on the tendency of cholesterol particles to aggregate where it was observed that the size of cholesterol vesicles would be influenced by the relative interaction with mucin resulting in aggregation of vesicles into larger particle sizes. More importantly, in accordance with SEDDS, FRAP was used to measure the diffusion of oil nano-droplets through mucin solution which showed no effect of the droplet size compared to a significant impact of the size of the lipid phase (medium or long chain lipid) on the bulk diffusion of SEDDS [157].

5.4 Multiple Particle Tracking Technique

MPT is a microscopy based technique pioneered by Hanes group to examine the motion of fluorescent particles in soft materials as a function of time [158]. The same group developed this technique to study the diffusion of fluorescent nano-systems across biological fluid and mainly through the mucus barrier [159]. This technique enables researchers to quantify the diffusivity of each individual particles at nanoscale level across a biopolymer system like mucus [160] and also understanding the structural and micro-rheological properties of that biopolymer system [161]. While most *in vitro* techniques provide the measurement of the bulk diffusion of particles, droplets or loaded drugs through mucus [66], MPT can simultaneously visualize, track and detect the individual diffusion coefficients of hundreds fluorescently labeled particles in a mucus samples [162].

MPT technique includes the use of either epifluorescence or confocal microscopy supplied with a high speed camera to record videos for the movements of fluorescently labelled particles/droplets in mucus [163]. These movements are ordinarily captured in X-Y dimensions within a single plane in the Z direction since mucus is an isotropic system and movements are equal in X, Y and Z dimensions [144]. Auto-fluorescence from mucus should be considered before the selection of fluorescent dye for particles' labelling since it can interfere with tracking [164]. Another factor that needs to be considered is the efficiency of dye loading into the particles/droplets where these loaded dyes should not be heavily leaked outside the particles before/during the experiment to avoid background noise. In this regard, SEDDS should be a very suitable system for the MPT analysis since such systems with an oil core allows the efficient incorporation of lipophilic fluorescent dyes that provides robust MPT studies in mucus [165]. Table 1 shows some of the published work in which SEDDS were efficiently labelled with fluorescent dyes and the method used to analyse the *in vitro* diffusion of SEDDS through mucus.

composition	Dye employed	Technique	Reference
Brij TM O10 as surfactant	Lumogen red	Multiple particle tracking	
and octyldodecanol and			[113]
paraffin as oil	Fluorescence labelled	Ex vivo permeation	
	Dextran		
Capmul MCM (30%),	Lumogen red	Multiple particle tracking	
Captex 355(30%),			
Cremophor EL (30%) and			[166]
propylene glycol (10%).	fluorescein diacetate	Rotating tube method	
	(FDA)		
Different combinations of	Lumogen red	Single particle tracking	
oil including Capmul			
MCM EP and oleic acid.			
Different combination of			[167]
surfactants including			
Capmul PG8, and			
Cremophor EL.			
Pluronic F-127 coated	Coumarin 6	CLSM studies on	[86]
liposomes		intestinal segments	[80]
Ethyl oleate and Captex as	Fluorescien diacetate	Standardized Transwell	
oil with different		diffusion plates	
combinations of			[168]
Cremophor, transcutol and			
triacetin as surfactants			

Table 1: Compositions of SEDD systems which are efficiently labelled with fluorescent dyes for *in vitro* testing of droplets permeation through mucus barrier.

Video recording is followed by post-acquisition analysis using tracking software such as ImageJ to simultaneously track the movements of each individual droplet and to convert these movements into trajectories of hundreds of individual droplets [169]. These trajectories are firstly expressed in pixels then converted into the metric system based on the setting of microscopy, i.e., the trajectories are converted into metric distance to calculate the displacements of each particle. The 2-dimentional displacements of any droplets at certain time intervals are calculated as the mean squared displacement (MSD) per time interval $MSD_{(n)} =$ $(X_{\Delta t})^2 + (Y_{\Delta t})^2)$. For each SEDDS species, the MSD of hundreds of particles are calculated then the geometric mean of these MSDs is calculated to represent the ensemble MSD <MSD> of that particulate species. Ensemble diffusion coefficient <Deff> of any particle species at certain time interval is calculated by dividing the <MSD> by the frame rate multiplied by 4 since 4 represented the 2 dimentional displacement in X-Y direction and the frame rate is the time scale at which MSD was calculated [65].

MPT technique can reveal not only the diffusion of droplets in the mucus but the behavioral movements of these droplets. Figure 5A shows the trajectories of oil droplets (SEDDS) in mucus samples where some droplets appeared trapped by the mucus and some appeared diffusive with pearl on string behavioral movement through the mucus (image captured by Gumbleton group) [170]. Figure 5B represents the measurement of <MSD> through transferring the trajectories into metric displacements in X-Y dimensions then calculating <MSD>. Figure 5C clarifies the different modes of behavioural movements of particles in which pearl on string movement is associated with the consecutive binding and unbinding of certain particles to the mucin. Random movement suggests the lack of interaction between a particle and its environment and immobilised movement is related to a totally trapped particle. In other words, these modes of particles' movements in the mucus actually reflect the

mechanism of particles' interactions with mucus components [171]. These particles-mucus interactions can be further analysed to give a clear description of the structural, mechanical and micro-rheological properties of the mucus samples [172].

MPT was recently utilized to quantify the diffusion of two discrete SEDDS formulations across freshly excised pig intestinal mucus. In the first MPT study, the mucolytic effect of thiomer loaded into SEDDS was revealed where the SEDDS system loaded with thiol exhibited a significantly higher diffusion coefficient compared to the thiol-free SEDDS [173]. Accordingly, MPT study on the diffusion coefficient of SEDDS showed an inverse relation between the ratio of the oil phase (octyldodecanol) and the diffusion of the system indicating the impact of the lipophilic interaction between the oil phase and the lipophilic components of the mucus [174].



Fig. 5. Tracking of SEDDS oil droplets by the MPT technique using Fiji Image J software (Gumbleton group) [170]. (A) Trajectories of different oil droplets; (B) Transferring on trajectories into metric movement to measure the <MSD> and <Deff> of particles; (C) Modes of particles movements within mucus sample.

6. Conclusion

SEDDS has shown high tendency to be an effective system for delivery of drug payloads across the mucosa. Literature review showed SEDDS can improve the diffusion of both hydrophilic macromolecule and lipophilic agents across intestinal mucus barrier. In terms of clinical unmet conditions, SEDDS has been extensively used to improve the permeation of loaded drugs, especially agents prone to enzymatic destruction such as peptides. The majority of these SEDD systems which showed high diffusivity across the mucus barrier have one factor in common, which is the presence of PEG derivatives as a co-surfactant. These glycol moieties seem to increase the flexibility of the surface of oil droplets and to diminish any lipophilic bonding between these oil droplets and mucus. In summary, utilizing SEDDS for mucus delivery has the following advantages: (i) high protection of loaded drugs against enzymatic environment; (ii) high permeation through mucus barrier; (iii) high loading capacity; and (iv) ease of preparation compared with solid nano-carriers.

However, even with the promising findings from SEDDS, There have been far fewer studies carried out on mucus diffusion of SEDDS than for the solid nano-systems. This has led to many gaps in knowledge, for example, on how surfactant and co-surfactant properties can change the diffusion of SEDDS through the intestinal mucus barrier. I.e., the published work on how surfactants and co-surfactants can improve mucus permeation of SEDDS is limited on the use of PEG-surfactants derivatives like PEG-35 and PEG-40 Hydrogenated Castor Oil to form a slippery-surface oil droplet that can permeate through mucus barrier. This limitation also applies to the impact of the oil phase where only few studies have been conducted to clarify the influence of the M.wt, size or chain length of the oil/lipid phase on the diffusion of the system.

Moreover, the work on promising SEDD systems like the zeta-changing system is still inadequate with few publications in the last decade. This is similar to the industrial approach where only limited work has been reported even though Sandimmune®, the first SEDDS

product was released to the market two decades ago [175]. Therefore, it can be concluded that SEDDS has high capacity to deliver different hydrophilic/lipophilic agents across the intestinal mucus barrier but further studies are required to have a better understanding on the factors affecting the mucus diffusion of this system.

7. Progress towards Clinical Translation

A lot of promise has been put forth by the in vitro success of the mucus permeating SEDDS which is imperative to be translated to patient bedside through exhaustive preclinical and clinical evaluation. Robustness in results in terms of safety, efficacy as well as improvement in the pharmacokinetic performance of candidate drugs is necessary for regulatory approval. There have been a scarce but positive precedence of the in vivo pharmacokinetic performance of mucus permeating SEDDS where significant improvement in oral bioavailability of hydrophilic macromolecules through HIP was reported as discussed above [113,115,116,119]. There are, however, concerns regarding the *in vitro-in vivo* correlation of SEDDS formulations along with challenges pertaining to stability and manufacturing cost towards the clinical translation of the evident advantages of SEDDS [18]. Another criticism associated with SEDDS is the unpredictable impact of surfactants on the membrane permeability [176].

Notwithstanding the mentioned criticism, SEDDS have found its way into the clinic as a carrier formulation for oral delivery of hydrophobic agents like cyclosporine (Neoral) [177], ritonavir (Norvir)[178], fenofibrate (Lipirex) [179] to mention a few. The potential of SEDDS for improvement of oral absorption of low permeable drugs have been already established and thus must be the carrier of choice of such agents. However, the correlation of the in vitro outcomes such as mucus permeation and controlled release with actual improvement of bioavailability in preclinical as well clinical setting is necessary for the eventual translation of the technology to the commercial products [18]. Further exploration of the guantitative technologies for mucus permeation is necessary to expedite the development of the SEDDS based delivery of

hydrophilic macromolecules and hydrophobic agents across intestinal mucus barrier efficiently.

8. Future perspectives

SEDDS is an effective strategy to augment the mucus permeation and enhanced oral bioavailability of hydrophilic peptides/proteins and lipophilic agents. However, the industrial utilisation of SEDDS for mucus delivery is still constrained and requires comprehensive exploration of various aspects and variables to reach the clinic. As is evident from the discussions above, an improvement in the molecular understanding of surfactant/co-surfactant and oil behaviours can be a potential breakthrough in designing SEDDS with enhanced efficiency and *in vivo* formulation stability which is imperative for clinical translation.

An important aspect which requires attention from the community is the incorporation of stimuli triggers within the SEDDS to pass the various physiological roadblocks present within the path of the mucus barrier. Zeta potential reversing systems exemplify theses innovative stimuli triggers which enable SEDDS to cross mucus barriers into intestinal epithelial absorption sites. In this regard, it can clearly be seen that there is a requisite to execute more studies to determine the fate of SEDDS as a system across the mucus and on the intestinal epithelia. The innovative techniques discussed provide a promising repertoire for precise analysis of SEDDS within the lumen and consequently into the target tissue. However, the selection of the technique which can precisely provide the vital evidence regarding mucus permeation is also a concern considering the cost and time constraints associated with certain techniques. MPT appears to be the right technique to comprehensively explain the parameters affecting mucus permeation of these systems.

Conflict of Interest

The authors report no conflict of interest.

Acknowledgment

The authors gratefully acknowledge the financial support from NRN/Life Sciences Research Network Wales.

References

- [1] S.-W. Moon, J.-H. Hwang, S.-H. Chung, K.-H. Nam, The impact of artificial tears containing hydroxypropyl guar on mucous layer., Cornea. 29 (2010) 1430–1435. doi:10.1097/ICO.0b013e3181ca636b.
- [2] G. Ponchel, J.M. Irache, Specific and non-specific bioadhesive particulate systems for oral delivery to the gastrointestinal tract, Adv. Drug Deliv. Rev. 34 (1998) 191–219. doi:10.1016/S0169-409X(98)00040-4.
- [3] M. Boegh, H.M. Nielsen, Mucus as a Barrier to Drug Delivery Understanding and Mimicking the Barrier Properties, Basic Clin. Pharmacol. Toxicol. 116 (2015) 179–186. doi:10.1111/bcpt.12342.
- [4] S.C. Bischoff, G. Barbara, W. Buurman, T. Ockhuizen, J.-D. Schulzke, M. Serino, et al., Intestinal permeability ¿ a new target for disease prevention and therapy., BMC Gastroenterol. 14 (2014) 189–214. doi:10.1186/s12876-014-0189-7.
- [5] B.J. Bruno, G.D. Miller, C.S. Lim, Basics and recent advances in peptide and protein drug delivery., Ther. Deliv. 4 (2013) 1443–67. doi:10.4155/tde.13.104.
- [6] A. Patel, M. Patel, X. Yang, A. Mitra, Recent Advances in Protein and Peptide Drug Delivery: A Special Emphasis on Polymeric Nanoparticles, Protein Pept. Lett. 21 (2014) 1102–1120. doi:10.2174/0929866521666140807114240.

- [7] G.C. Hansson, Role of mucus layers in gut infection and inflammation, Curr. Opin. Microbiol. 15 (2012) 57–62. doi:10.1016/j.mib.2011.11.002.
- [8] M. Ruponen, A. Urtti, Undefined role of mucus as a barrier in ocular drug delivery, Eur.
 J. Pharm. Biopharm. 96 (2015) 442–446. doi:10.1016/j.ejpb.2015.02.032.
- [9] W. Shan, X. Zhu, M. Liu, L. Li, J. Zhong, W. Sun, et al., Overcoming the Diffusion Barrier of Mucus and Absorption Barrier of Epithelium by Self-Assembled Nanoparticles for Oral Delivery of Insulin, ACS Nano. 9 (2015) 2345–2356. doi:10.1021/acsnano.5b00028.
- [10] M.L. Tan, P.F.M. Choong, C.R. Dass, Recent developments in liposomes, microparticles and nanoparticles for protein and peptide drug delivery, Peptides. 31 (2010) 184–193. doi:10.1016/j.peptides.2009.10.002.
- [11] S. Köllner, S. Dünnhaupt, C. Waldner, S. Hauptstein, I. Pereira de Sousa, A. Bernkop-Schnürch, Mucus permeating thiomer nanoparticles, Eur. J. Pharm. Biopharm. 97 (2015) 265–272. doi:10.1016/j.ejpb.2015.01.004.
- [12] J. Woodley, Bioadhesion New Possibilities for Drug Administration? John, Clin. Pharmacokinet. 40 (2001) 77–84.
- [13] A. des Rieux, V. Fievez, M. Garinot, Y.J. Schneider, V. Préat, Nanoparticles as potential oral delivery systems of proteins and vaccines: A mechanistic approach, J. Control. Release. 116 (2006) 1–27. doi:10.1016/j.jconrel.2006.08.013.
- [14] M. Liu, J. Zhang, W. Shan, Y. Huang, Developments of mucus penetrating nanoparticles, Asian J. Pharm. Sci. (2015) 8–15. doi:10.1016/j.ajps.2014.12.007.
- [15] G. Leonaviciute, A. Bernkop-Schnürch, Self-emulsifying drug delivery systems in oral (poly)peptide drug delivery, Expert Opin. Drug Deliv. 12 (2015) 1703–1716. doi:10.1517/17425247.2015.1068287.
- [16] G.F. Balata, E. a. Essa, H. a. Shamardl, S.H. Zaidan, M. a. S. Abourehab, Selfemulsifying drug delivery systems as a tool to improve solubility and bioavailability of resveratrol, Drug Des. Devel. Ther. 10 (2016) 117–128. doi:10.2147/DDDT.S95905.
- [17] S. Alqahtani, A. Alayoubi, S. Nazzal, P.W. Sylvester, A. Kaddoumi, Enhanced solubility and oral bioavailability of γ-tocotrienol using a self-emulsifying drug delivery system (SEDDS), Lipids. 49 (2014) 819–829. doi:10.1007/s11745-014-3923-6.
- [18] A. Mahmood, A. Bernkop-Schnürch, SEDDS: A game changing approach for the oral administration of hydrophilic macromolecular drugs, Adv. Drug Deliv. Rev. (2018). doi:10.1016/j.addr.2018.07.001.
- [19] B. Chatterjee, S. Hamed Almurisi, A. Ahmed Mahdi Dukhan, U.K. Mandal, P. Sengupta, Controversies with self-emulsifying drug delivery system from pharmacokinetic point of view, Drug Deliv. 23 (2016) 3639–3652. doi:10.1080/10717544.2016.1214990.

- [20] J.M. Creeth, Constituents of mucus and their separation., Br. Med. Bull. 34 (1978) 17–24.
- [21] W.N. Wong WM, Poulsom R, Trefoil peptides, Gut. 44 (1999) 890–895. doi:10.1136/gut.44.6.890.
- [22] A.W. Larhed, P. Artursson, E. Björk, The influence of intestinal mucus components on the diffusion of drugs, Pharm. Res. 15 (1998) 66–71. doi:10.1023/A:1011948703571.
- [23] a. R. MacKie, a. N. Round, N.M. Rigby, a. MacIerzanka, The Role of the Mucus Barrier in Digestion, Food Dig. 3 (2012) 8–15. doi:10.1007/s13228-012-0021-1.
- [24] N.F. Tabachnik, P. Blackburn, a. Cerami, Biochemical and rheological characterization of sputum mucins from a patient with cystic fibrosis, J. Biol. Chem. 256 (1981) 7161– 7165.
- [25] S. Rossi, M.C. Bonferoni, G. Lippoli, M. Bertoni, F. Ferrari, C. Caramella, et al., Influence of mucin type on polymer-mucin rheological interactions., Biomaterials. 16 (1995) 1073–1079. doi:10.1016/0142-9612(95)98903-R.
- [26] R.D. Specian, M.G. Oliver, Functional biology of intestinal goblet cells., Am. J. Physiol. 260 (1991) C183–C193.
- [27] A. Allen, J.P. Pearson, Mucus glycoproteins of the normal gastrointestinal tract, Eur. J. Gastroenterol. Hepatol. 5 (1993) 193–199. doi:10.1097/00042737-199304000-00002.
- [28] J.K. Sheehan, K. Oates, I. Carlstedt, Electron microscopy of cervical, gastric and bronchial mucus glycoproteins., Biochem. J. 239 (1986) 147–153.
- [29] H.S. Slayter, J.K. Wold, T. Midtvedt, Intestinal mucin of germ-free rats. Biochemical and electron-microscopic characterization, Carbohydr. Res. 222 (1991) 1–9. doi:10.1016/0008-6215(91)89001-V.
- [30] T. Ichikawa, K. Ishihara, Protective Effects of Gastric Mucus, in: Paola Tonino (Ed.), Gastritis Gastric Cancer - New Insights Gastroprotection, Diagnosis Treat., intechopen.com, 2011: pp. 1–24. doi:10.5772/23951.
- [31] J. Dekker, W.M. Van Beurden-Lamers, a Oprins, G.J. Strous, Isolation and structural analysis of rat gastric mucus glycoprotein suggests a homogeneous protein backbone., Biochem. J. 260 (1989) 717–723.
- [32] M.R. Knowles, R.C. Boucher, Mucus clearance as a primary innate defense mechanism for mammalian airways, J. Clin. Invest. 109 (2002) 571–577. doi:10.1172/JCI200215217.
- [33] S.K. Linden, P. Sutton, N.G. Karlsson, V. Korolik, M. a McGuckin, Mucins in the mucosal barrier to infection., Mucosal Immunol. 1 (2008) 183–197. doi:10.1038/mi.2008.5.

- [34] B. Sandzén, H. Blom, S. Dahlgren, Gastric mucus gel layer thickness measured by direct light microscopy. An experimental study in the rat., Scand. J. Gastroenterol. 23 (1988) 1160–1164. doi:10.3109/00365528809090185.
- [35] J.D. Kaunitz, Barrier function of gastric mucus, Keio J. Med. 48 (1999) 63–68. doi:10.2302/kjm.48.63.
- [36] O. Lieleg, K. Ribbeck, Biological hydrogels as selective diffusion barriers, Trends Cell Biol. 21 (2011) 543–551. doi:10.1016/j.tcb.2011.06.002.
- [37] T. Jung, W. Kamm, a. Breitenbach, E. Kaiserling, J.X. Xiao, T. Kissel, Biodegradable nanoparticles for oral delivery of peptides: Is there a role for polymers to affect mucosal uptake?, Eur. J. Pharm. Biopharm. 50 (2000) 147–160. doi:10.1016/S0939-6411(00)00084-9.
- [38] a. MacAdam, The effect of gastro-intestinal mucus on drug absorption, Adv. Drug Deliv. Rev. 11 (1993) 201–220. doi:10.1016/0169-409X(93)90010-2.
- [39] P.G. Bhat, D.R. Flanagan, M.D. Donovan, Drug binding to gastric mucus glycoproteins, Int. J. Pharm. 134 (1996) 15–25. doi:10.1016/0378-5173(95)04333-0.
- [40] D. a. Norris, N. Puri, P.J. Sinko, The effect of physical barriers and properties on the oral absorption of particulates, Adv. Drug Deliv. Rev. 34 (1998) 135–154. doi:10.1016/S0169-409X(98)00037-4.
- [41] V.L. Pereira-Chioccola, a Acosta-Serrano, I. Correia de Almeida, M. a Ferguson, T. Souto-Padron, M.M. Rodrigues, et al., Mucin-like molecules form a negatively charged coat that protects Trypanosoma cruzi trypomastigotes from killing by human anti-alpha-galactosyl antibodies., J. Cell Sci. 113 (Pt 7 (2000) 1299–1307.
- [42] E.R. Vimr, K. a Kalivoda, E.L. Deszo, S.M. Steenbergen, Diversity of microbial sialic acid metabolism., Microbiol. Mol. Biol. Rev. 68 (2004) 132–153. doi:10.1128/MMBR.68.1.132.
- [43] a. E. Eckhardt, C.S. Timpte, J.L. Abernethy, a. Toumadje, W.C. Johnson, R.L. Hill, Structural properties of porcine submaxillary gland apomucin., J. Biol. Chem. 262 (1987) 11339–11344.
- [44] H.H. Sigurdsson, J. Kirch, C.M. Lehr, Mucus as a barrier to lipophilic drugs, Int. J. Pharm. 453 (2013) 56–64. doi:10.1016/j.ijpharm.2013.05.040.
- [45] R. Sommer, T.E. Exner, A. Titz, A Biophysical Study with Carbohydrate Derivatives Explains the Molecular Basis of Monosaccharide Selectivity of the Pseudomonas aeruginosa Lectin LecB., PLoS One. 9 (2014) e112822. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0112822.
- [46] M. Mantle, G. Stewart, G. Zayas, M. King, The disulphide-bond content and rheological properties of intestinal mucins from normal subjects and patients with cystic fibrosis., Biochem. J. 266 (1990) 597–604.

- [47] A.E. Bell, A. Allen, E.R. Morris, S.B. Ross-Murphy, Functional interactions of gastric mucus glycoprotein, Int. J. Biol. Macromol. 6 (1984) 309–315. doi:10.1016/0141-8130(84)90015-1.
- [48] G.J. Strous, J. Dekker, Mucin-type glycoproteins., Crit. Rev. Biochem. Mol. Biol. 27 (1992) 57–92. doi:10.3109/10409239209082559.
- [49] D. Snary, a Allen, Studies on gastric mucoproteins. The production of radioactive mucoproteins by pig gastric mucosal scrapings in vitro., Biochem. J. 127 (1972) 577– 587.
- [50] M.E. V. Johansson, M. Phillipson, J. Petersson, A. Velcich, L. Holm, G.C. Hansson, The inner of the two Muc2 mucin-dependent mucus layers in colon is devoid of bacteria, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 105 (2008) 15064–9. doi:10.4161/gmic.1.1.10470.
- [51] M.E. V Johansson, J.M.H. Larsson, G.C. Hansson, The two mucus layers of colon are organized by the MUC2 mucin, whereas the outer layer is a legislator of host-microbial interactions., Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 108 Suppl (2011) 4659–4665. doi:10.1073/pnas.1006451107.
- [52] M. King, Experimental models for studying mucociliary clearance, Eur. Respir. J. 11 (1998) 222–228. doi:10.1183/09031936.98.11010222.
- [53] R. Cone, Mucus, in: L.M. Jiri Mestecky, Michael E. Lamm, Pearay L. Ogra, Warren Strober, John Bienenstock, Jerry R. McGhee (Ed.), Mucosal Immunol., 3rd ed., Elsevier Academic Press, London, 2005: pp. 49–72.
- [54] J.P. Celli, B.S. Turner, N.H. Afdhal, R.H. Ewoldt, G.H. McKinley, R. Bansil, et al., Rheology of gastric mucin exhibits a pH-dependent sol-gel transition, Biomacromolecules. 8 (2007) 1580–1586. doi:10.1021/bm0609691.
- [55] S.K. Lai, D.E. O'Hanlon, S. Harrold, S.T. Man, Y.-Y. Wang, R. Cone, et al., Rapid transport of large polymeric nanoparticles in fresh undiluted human mucus., Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 104 (2007) 1482–7. doi:10.1073/pnas.0608611104.
- [56] I. Pereira de Sousa, C. Steiner, M. Schmutzler, M.D. Wilcox, G.J. Veldhuis, J.P. Pearson, et al., Mucus permeating carriers: formulation and characterization of highly densely charged nanoparticles, Eur. J. Pharm. Biopharm. 97 (2015) 273–279. doi:10.1016/j.ejpb.2014.12.024.
- [57] Y. Zhang, H. Li, Q. Wang, X. Hao, H. Li, H. Sun, et al., Rationally Designed Self-Assembling Nanoparticles to Overcome Mucus and Epithelium Transport Barriers for Oral Vaccines against Helicobacter pylori, Adv. Funct. Mater. 28 (2018). doi:10.1002/adfm.201802675.
- [58] J. Griesser, G. Hetényi, H. Kadas, F. Demarne, V. Jannin, A. Bernkop-Schnürch, Selfemulsifying peptide drug delivery systems: How to make them highly mucus permeating, Int. J. Pharm. 538 (2018) 159–166. doi:10.1016/j.ijpharm.2018.01.018.

- [59] R. a Cone, Barrier properties of mucus., Adv. Drug Deliv. Rev. 61 (2009) 75–85. doi:10.1016/j.addr.2008.09.008.
- [60] a Wada, H. Nakamura, Nature of the charge distribution in proteins., Nature. 293 (1981) 757–758. doi:10.1038/293757a0.
- [61] S.S. Olmsted, J.L. Padgett, a I. Yudin, K.J. Whaley, T.R. Moench, R. a Cone, Diffusion of macromolecules and virus-like particles in human cervical mucus., Biophys. J. 81 (2001) 1930–7. doi:10.1016/S0006-3495(01)75844-4.
- [62] V. V. Khutoryanskiy, Beyond PEGylation: Alternative surface-modification of nanoparticles with mucus-inert biomaterials, Adv. Drug Deliv. Rev. 124 (2017) 140– 149. doi:10.1016/j.addr.2017.07.015.
- [63] Y. Wang, S.K. Lai, J.S. Suk, A. Pace, R. Cone, J. Hanes, Addressing the PEG mucoadhesivity paradox to engineer nanoparticles that "slip" through the human mucus barrier., Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. Engl. 47 (2008) 9726–9. doi:10.1002/anie.200803526.
- [64] Y. Wang, K. Hida, R. Cone, M. Sanson, Y. Vengrenyuk, J. Liu, et al., Nanoparticles reveal that human cervicovaginal mucus is riddled with pores larger than viruses, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 108 (2011) 14371–14371. doi:10.1073/pnas.1111693108.
- [65] J.S. Suk, S.K. Lai, Y.-Y. Wang, L.M. Ensign, P.L. Zeitlin, M.P. Boyle, et al., The penetration of fresh undiluted sputum expectorated by cystic fibrosis patients by nonadhesive polymer nanoparticles., Biomaterials. 30 (2009) 2591–7. doi:10.1016/j.biomaterials.2008.12.076.
- [66] B.S. Schuster, J.S. Suk, G.F. Woodworth, J. Hanes, Nanoparticle diffusion in respiratory mucus from humans without lung disease, Biomaterials. 34 (2013) 3439–3446. doi:10.1016/j.biomaterials.2013.01.064.
- [67] M. Yang, S.K. Lai, Y.Y. Wang, W. Zhong, C. Happe, M. Zhang, et al., Biodegradable nanoparticles composed entirely of safe materials that rapidly penetrate human mucus, Angew. Chemie - Int. Ed. 50 (2011) 2597–2600. doi:10.1002/anie.201006849.
- [68] S.K. Lai, J.S. Suk, A. Pace, Y.Y. Wang, M. Yang, O. Mert, et al., Drug carrier nanoparticles that penetrate human chronic rhinosinusitis mucus, Biomaterials. 32 (2011) 6285–6290. doi:10.1016/j.biomaterials.2011.05.008.
- [69] M. Abdulkarim, N. Agulló, B. Cattoz, P. Griffiths, A. Bernkop-Schnürch, S.G. Borros, et al., Nanoparticle diffusion within intestinal mucus: Three-dimensional response analysis dissecting the impact of particle surface charge, size and heterogeneity across polyelectrolyte, pegylated and viral particles, Eur. J. Pharm. Biopharm. 97 (2015) 230– 238. doi:10.1016/j.ejpb.2015.01.023.
- [70] F. Laffleur, F. Hintzen, G. Shahnaz, D. Rahmat, K. Leithner, A. Bernkop-Schnürch, Development and in vitro evaluation of slippery nanoparticles for enhanced diffusion through native mucus., Nanomedicine (Lond). 9 (2014) 387–96. doi:10.2217/nnm.13.26.

- [71] M. Dawson, E. Krauland, D. Wirtz, J. Hanes, Transport of polymeric nanoparticle gene carriers in gastric mucus, Biotechnol. Prog. 20 (2004) 851–857. doi:10.1021/bp0342553.
- [72] A. Beloqui, M.Á. Solinís, A. Des Rieux, V. Préat, A. Rodríguez-Gascón, Dextranprotamine coated nanostructured lipid carriers as mucus-penetrating nanoparticles for lipophilic drugs, Int. J. Pharm. 468 (2014) 105–111. doi:10.1016/j.ijpharm.2014.04.027.
- [73] A.E. Bell, L.A. Sellers, A. Allen, W.J. Cunliffe, E.R. Morris, S.B. Ross-Murphy, Properties of gastric and duodenal mucus: effect of proteolysis, disulfide reduction, bile, acid, ethanol, and hypertonicity on mucus gel structure., Gastroenterology. 88 (1985) 269–280. doi:10.1016/S0016-5085(85)80180-3.
- [74] S. Dünnhaupt, O. Kammona, C. Waldner, C. Kiparissides, A. Bernkop-Schnürch, Nanocarrier systems: Strategies to overcome the mucus gel barrier, Eur. J. Pharm. Biopharm. 96 (2015) 447–453. doi:10.1016/j.ejpb.2015.01.022.
- [75] M.O. Henke, F. Ratjen, Mucolytics in cystic fibrosis, Paediatr. Respir. Rev. 8 (2007) 24–29. doi:10.1016/j.prrv.2007.02.009.
- [76] N.N. Sanders, S.C. De Smedt, E. Van Rompaey, P. Simoens, F. De Baets, J. Demeester, Cystic fibrosis sputum: A barrier to the transport of nanospheres, Am. J. Respir. Crit. Care Med. 162 (2000) 1905–1911. doi:10.1164/ajrccm.162.5.9909009.
- [77] C. Müller, K. Leithner, S. Hauptstein, F. Hintzen, W. Salvenmoser, A. Bernkop-Schnürch, Preparation and characterization of mucus-penetrating papain/poly(acrylic acid) nanoparticles for oral drug delivery applications, J. Nanoparticle Res. 15 (2012) 1353–1366. doi:10.1007/s11051-012-1353-z.
- [78] C. Müller, G. Perera, V. König, A. Bernkop-schnürch, Development and in vivo evaluation of papain-functionalized nanoparticles, Eur. J. Pharm. Biopharm. 87 (2014) 125–131. doi:10.1016/j.ejpb.2013.12.012.
- [79] J. Khan, Y. Iiboshi, L. Cui, M. Wasa, A. Okada, Role of intestinal mucus on the uptake of latex beads by Peyer's patches and on their transport to mesenteric lymph nodes in rats., JPEN. J. Parenter. Enteral Nutr. 23 (1999) 19–23. doi:10.1177/014860719902300119.
- [80] J.S. Suk, S.K. Lai, N.J. Boylan, M.R. Dawson, M.P. Boyle, J. Hanes, Rapid transport of muco-inert nanoparticles in cystic fibrosis sputum treated with N-acetyl cysteine., Nanomedicine (Lond). 6 (2011) 365–75. doi:10.1016/j.
- [81] H. He, Y. Lu, J. Qi, Q. Zhu, Z. Chen, W. Wu, Adapting liposomes for oral drug delivery, Acta Pharm. Sin. B. (2018). doi:10.1016/j.apsb.2018.06.005.
- [82] S.V.R. Rao, P. Agarwal, J. Shao, Self-nanoemulsifying drug delivery systems (SNEDDS) for oral delivery of protein drugs. II. In vitro transport study, Int. J. Pharm. 362 (2008) 10–15. doi:10.1016/j.ijpharm.2008.05.016.

- [83] M. Gulati, M. Grover, S. Singh, M. Singh, Lipophilic drug derivatives in liposomes, Int. J. Pharm. 165 (1998) 129–168. doi:10.1016/S0378-5173(98)00006-4.
- [84] K. Gradauer, J. Barthelmes, C. Vonach, G. Almer, H. Mangge, B. Teubl, et al., Liposomes coated with thiolated chitosan enhance oral peptide delivery to rats, J. Control. Release. 172 (2013) 872–878. doi:10.1016/j.jconrel.2013.10.011.
- [85] N. Sanders, S. De Smedt, S. Cheng, J. Demeester, Pegylated GL67 lipoplexes retain their gene transfection activity after exposure to components of CF mucus, Gene Ther. 9 (2002) 363.
- [86] D. Chen, D. Xia, X. Li, Q. Zhu, H. Yu, C. Zhu, et al., Comparative study of Pluronic® F127-modified liposomes and chitosan-modified liposomes for mucus penetration and oral absorption of cyclosporine A in rats, Int. J. Pharm. 449 (2013) 1–9. doi:10.1016/j.ijpharm.2013.04.002.
- [87] T. Yu, K.W.Y. Chan, A. Anonuevo, X. Song, B.S. Schuster, S. Chattopadhyay, et al., Liposome-based mucus-penetrating particles (MPP) for mucosal theranostics: Demonstration of diamagnetic chemical exchange saturation transfer (diaCEST) magnetic resonance imaging (MRI), Nanomedicine Nanotechnology, Biol. Med. 11 (2015) 401–405. doi:10.1016/j.nano.2014.09.019.
- [88] R.S. Santos, G.R. Dakwar, E. Zagato, T. Brans, C. Figueiredo, K. Raemdonck, et al., Intracellular delivery of oligonucleotides in Helicobacter pylori by fusogenic liposomes in the presence of gastric mucus, Biomaterials. 138 (2017) 1–12. doi:10.1016/j.biomaterials.2017.05.029.
- [89] G. Leonaviciute, A. Bernkop-Schnürch, Self-emulsifying drug delivery systems in oral (poly)peptide drug delivery, Expert Opin. Drug Deliv. 12 (2015) 1703–1716. doi:10.1517/17425247.2015.1068287.
- [90] S. Akula, A.K. Gurram, S.R. Devireddy, Self-Microemulsifying Drug Delivery Systems: An Attractive Strategy for Enhanced Therapeutic Profile, Int. Sch. Res. Not. 2014 (2014) 1–11. doi:10.1155/2014/964051.
- [91] W. Suchaoin, A. Bernkop-Schnürch, Nanocarriers protecting toward an intestinal preuptake metabolism, Nanomedicine. 12 (2017) 255–269. doi:10.2217/nnm-2016-0331.
- [92] R. Holm, C.J.H. Porter, G.A. Edwards, A. Müllertz, H.G. Kristensen, W.N. Charman, Examination of oral absorption and lymphatic transport of halofantrine in a triplecannulated canine model after administration in self-microemulsifying drug delivery systems (SMEDDS) containing structured triglycerides, Eur. J. Pharm. Sci. 20 (2003) 91–97. doi:10.1016/S0928-0987(03)00174-X.
- [93] R. Neslihan Gursoy, S. Benita, Self-emulsifying drug delivery systems (SEDDS) for improved oral delivery of lipophilic drugs, Biomed. Pharmacother. 58 (2004) 173–182. doi:10.1016/j.biopha.2004.02.001.

- [94] P.P. Constantinides, Lipid Microemulsions for Improving Drug Dissolution and Oral Absorption: Physical and Biopharmaceutical Aspects, Pharm. Res. 12 (1995) 1561– 1572. doi:10.1023/A:1016268311867.
- [95] T. Gershanik, S. Benita, Self-dispersing lipid formulations for improving oral absorption of lipophilic drugs, Eur. J. Pharm. Biopharm. 50 (2000) 179–188. doi:10.1016/S0939-6411(00)00089-8.
- [96] S. Gupta, R. Kesarla, A. Omri, Formulation Strategies to Improve the Bioavailability of Poorly Absorbed Drugs with Special Emphasis on Self-Emulsifying Systems, ISRN Pharm. 2013 (2013) 1–16. doi:10.1155/2013/848043.
- [97] H.-J. Kim, K.A. Yoon, M. Hahn, E.-S. Park, S.-C. Chi, Preparation and In Vitro Evaluation of Self-Microemulsifying Drug Delivery Systems Containing Idebenone, Drug Dev. Ind. Pharm. 26 (2000) 523–529. doi:10.1081/DDC-100101263.
- [98] M.L. Amin, P-glycoprotein inhibition for optimal drug delivery, Drug Target Insights. 2013 (2013) 27–34. doi:10.4137/DTI.S12519.
- [99] M.V.S. Varma, Y. Ashokraj, C.S. Dey, R. Panchagnula, P-glycoprotein inhibitors and their screening: A perspective from bioavailability enhancement, Pharmacol. Res. 48 (2003) 347–359. doi:10.1016/S1043-6618(03)00158-0.
- [100] M. Werle, Natural and synthetic polymers as inhibitors of drug efflux pumps, Pharm. Res. 25 (2008) 500–511. doi:10.1007/s11095-007-9347-8.
- [101] C. Liu, J. Wu, B. Shi, Y. Zhang, T. Gao, Y. Pei, Enhancing the bioavailability of cyclosporine A using solid dispersion containing polyoxyethylene (40) stearate, Drug Dev. Ind. Pharm. 32 (2006) 115–123. doi:10.1080/03639040500388573.
- [102] Y. Matsuda, A. Yamamoto, T. Fujita, Y. Shono, H. Nishihara, N. Okada, et al., Modulation of Intestinal P-Glycoprotein Function by Cremophor EL and Other Surfactants by an In Vitro Diffusion Chamber Method Using the Isolated Rat Intestinal Membranes, J. Pharm. Sci. 93 (2004) 877–885. doi:10.1002/jps.20017.
- [103] A. Christiansen, T. Backensfeld, K. Denner, W. Weitschies, Effects of non-ionic surfactants on cytochrome P450-mediated metabolism in vitro, Eur. J. Pharm. Biopharm. 78 (2011) 166–172. doi:10.1016/j.ejpb.2010.12.033.
- [104] Z. Rao, L. Si, Y. Guan, H. Pan, J. Qiu, G. Li, Inhibitive effect of cremophor RH40 or tween 80-based self- microemulsiflying drug delivery system on cytochrome P450 3A enzymes in murine hepatocytes, J. Huazhong Univ. Sci. Technol. - Med. Sci. 30 (2010) 562–568. doi:10.1007/s11596-010-0543-0.
- [105] G. Hetényi, J. Griesser, M. Moser, F. Demarne, V. Jannin, A. Bernkop-Schnürch, Comparison of the protective effect of self-emulsifying peptide drug delivery systems towards intestinal proteases and glutathione, Int. J. Pharm. 523 (2017) 357–365. doi:10.1016/j.ijpharm.2017.03.027.

- [106] K. Kohli, S. Chopra, D. Dhar, S. Arora, R.K. Khar, Self-emulsifying drug delivery systems: An approach to enhance oral bioavailability, Drug Discov. Today. 15 (2010) 958–965. doi:10.1016/j.drudis.2010.08.007.
- [107] Y. Sunazuka, K. Ueda, K. Higashi, Y. Tanaka, K. Moribe, Combined effects of the drug distribution and mucus diffusion properties of self-microemulsifying drug delivery systems on the oral absorption of fenofibrate, Int. J. Pharm. 546 (2018) 263–271. doi:10.1016/j.ijpharm.2018.05.031.
- [108] M. Goldberg, I. Gomez-Orellana, Challenges for the oral delivery of macromolecules, Nat. Rev. Drug Discov. 2 (2003) 289–295. doi:10.1038/nrd1067.
- [109] T.P.U. Ravi, T. Padma, Nanoemulsions for drug delivery through different routes, Res. Biotechnol. 2 (2011) 1–13.
- [110] A. Sood, R. Panchagnula, Peroral route: An opportunity for protein and peptide drug delivery, Chem. Rev. 101 (2001) 3275–3303. doi:10.1021/cr000700m.
- [111] J. Griesser, G. Hetényi, M. Moser, F. Demarne, V. Jannin, A. Bernkop-Schnürch, Hydrophobic ion pairing: Key to highly payloaded self-emulsifying peptide drug delivery systems, Int. J. Pharm. 520 (2017) 267–274. doi:10.1016/j.ijpharm.2017.02.019.
- [112] M.L. Guzman, M.R. Marques, M.E. Olivera ME, E.S. Stippler, Enzymatic activity in the presence of surfactants commonly used in dissolution media, Part 1: Pepsin, Results Pharma Sci. 6 (2016) 15–19. doi:10.1016/j.rinphs.2016.02.002.
- [113] S. Bonengel, M. Jelkmann, M. Abdulkarim, M. Gumbleton, V. Reinstadler, H. Oberacher, et al., Impact of different hydrophobic ion pairs of octreotide on its oral bioavailability in pigs, J. Control. Release. 273 (2018) 21–29. doi:10.1016/j.jconrel.2018.01.012.
- [114] O. Zupančič, A. Partenhauser, H.T. Lam, J. Rohrer, A. Bernkop-Schnürch, Development and in vitro characterisation of an oral self-emulsifying delivery system for daptomycin, Eur. J. Pharm. Sci. 81 (2016) 129–136. doi:10.1016/j.ejps.2015.10.005.
- [115] O. Zupančič, J.A. Grieβinger, J. Rohrer, I. Pereira de Sousa, L. Danninger, A. Partenhauser, et al., Development, in vitro and in vivo evaluation of a self-emulsifying drug delivery system (SEDDS) for oral enoxaparin administration, Eur. J. Pharm. Biopharm. 109 (2016) 113–121. doi:10.1016/j.ejpb.2016.09.013.
- [116] F. Hintzen, G. Perera, S. Hauptstein, C. Müller, F. Laffleur, A. Bernkop-Schnürch, In vivo evaluation of an oral self-microemulsifying drug delivery system (SMEDDS) for leuprorelin, Int. J. Pharm. 472 (2014) 20–26. doi:10.1016/j.ijpharm.2014.05.047.
- [117] C.Y. Wong, J. Martinez, C.R. Dass, Oral delivery of insulin for treatment of diabetes: status quo, challenges and opportunities, J. Pharm. Pharmacol. 68 (2016) 1093–1108. doi:10.1111/jphp.12607.

- [118] T. Karamanidou, K. Karidi, V. Bourganis, K. Kontonikola, O. Kammona, C. Kiparissides, Effective incorporation of insulin in mucus permeating self-nanoemulsifying drug delivery systems, Eur. J. Pharm. Biopharm. 97 (2015) 223–229. doi:10.1016/j.ejpb.2015.04.013.
- [119] C. Menzel, T. Holzeisen, F. Laffleur, S. Zaichik, M. Abdulkarim, M. Gumbleton, et al., In vivo evaluation of an oral self-emulsifying drug delivery system (SEDDS) for exenatide, J. Control. Release. 277 (2018) 165–172. doi:10.1016/j.jconrel.2018.03.018.
- [120] J. Griesser, G. Hetényi, H. Kadas, F. Demarne, V. Jannin, A. Bernkop-Schnürch, Selfemulsifying peptide drug delivery systems: How to make them highly mucus permeating, Int. J. Pharm. 538 (2018) 159–166. doi:10.1016/j.ijpharm.2018.01.018.
- [121] M. Ijaz, S. Bonengel, O. Zupančič, M. Yaqoob, M. Hartl, S. Hussain, et al., Development of oral self nano-emulsifying delivery system(s) of lanreotide with improved stability against presystemic thiol-disulfide exchange reactions, Expert Opin. Drug Deliv. 13 (2016) 923–929. doi:10.1517/17425247.2016.1167034.
- [122] O. Zupančič, G. Leonaviciute, H.T. Lam, A. Partenhauser, S. Podričnik, A. Bernkop-Schnürch, Development and in vitro evaluation of an oral SEDDS for desmopressin, Drug Deliv. 23 (2016) 2074–2083. doi:10.3109/10717544.2016.1143056.
- [123] B.K. Rubin, Mucus structure and properties in cystic fibrosis, Paediatr. Respir. Rev. 8 (2007) 4–7. doi:10.1016/j.prrv.2007.02.004.
- [124] C. Leichner, C. Menzel, F. Laffleur, A. Bernkop-Schnürch, Development and in vitro characterization of a papain loaded mucolytic self-emulsifying drug delivery system (SEDDS), Int. J. Pharm. 530 (2017) 346–353. doi:10.1016/j.ijpharm.2017.08.059.
- [125] N.A. Efiana, T.N.Q. Phan, A.J. Wicaksono, A. Bernkop- Schnürch, Mucus permeating self-emulsifying drug delivery systems (SEDDS): About the impact of mucolytic enzymes, Colloids Surfaces B Biointerfaces. 161 (2018) 228–235. doi:10.1016/j.colsurfb.2017.10.032.
- [126] J. Rohrer, A. Partenhauser, S. Hauptstein, C.M. Gallati, B. Matuszczak, M. Abdulkarim, et al., Mucus permeating thiolated self-emulsifying drug delivery systems, Eur. J. Pharm. Biopharm. 98 (2016) 90–97. doi:10.1016/j.ejpb.2015.11.004.
- [127] I. Pereira de Sousa, T. Moser, C. Steiner, B. Fichtl, A. Bernkop-Schnürch, Insulin loaded mucus permeating nanoparticles: Addressing the surface characteristics as feature to improve mucus permeation, Int. J. Pharm. 500 (2016) 236–244. doi:10.1016/j.ijpharm.2016.01.022.
- [128] S. Bonengel, F. Prüfert, G. Perera, J. Schauer, A. Bernkop-Schnürch, Polyethylene imine-6-phosphogluconic acid nanoparticles – a novel zeta potential changing system, Int. J. Pharm. 483 (2015) 19–25. doi:10.1016/j.ijpharm.2015.01.041.
- [129] W. Suchaoin, I. Pereira de Sousa, K. Netsomboon, H.T. Lam, F. Laffleur, A. Bernkop-Schnürch, Development and in vitro evaluation of zeta potential changing self-

emulsifying drug delivery systems for enhanced mucus permeation, Int. J. Pharm. 510 (2016) 255–262. doi:10.1016/j.ijpharm.2016.06.045.

- [130] J. Griesser, S. Burtscher, S. Köllner, I. Nardin, F. Prüfert, A. Bernkop-Schnürch, Zeta potential changing self-emulsifying drug delivery systems containing phosphorylated polysaccharides, Eur. J. Pharm. Biopharm. 119 (2017) 264–270. doi:10.1016/j.ejpb.2017.06.025.
- [131] E. Salimi, B. Le-Vinh, F. Zahir-Jouzdani, B. Matuszczak, A. Ghaee, A. Bernkop-Schnürch, Self-emulsifying drug delivery systems changing their zeta potential via a flip-flop mechanism, Int. J. Pharm. 550 (2018) 200–206. doi:10.1016/j.ijpharm.2018.08.046.
- [132] F.G.J. Poelma, R. Breäs, J.J. Tukker, D.J.A. Crommelin, Intestinal Absorption of Drugs. The Influence of Mixed Micelles on on the Disappearance Kinetics of Drugs from the Small Intestine of the Rat, J. Pharm. Pharmacol. 43 (1991) 317–324. doi:10.1111/j.2042-7158.1991.tb06697.x.
- [133] J.Y. Lock, T.L. Carlson, C.-M. Wang, A. Chen, R.L. Carrier, Acute Exposure to Commonly Ingested Emulsifiers Alters Intestinal Mucus Structure and Transport Properties, Sci. Rep. 8 (2018). doi:10.1038/s41598-018-27957-2.
- [134] P. Gao, B.D. Rush, W.P. Pfund, T. Huang, J.M. Bauer, W. Morozowich, et al., Development of a supersaturable SEDDS (S- SEDDS) formulation of paclitaxel with improved oral bioavailability, J. Pharm. Sci. 92 (2003) 2386–2398. doi:10.1002/jps.10511.
- [135] D.H. Lee, D.W. Yeom, Y.S. Song, H.R. Cho, Y.S. Choi, M.J. Kang, et al., Improved oral absorption of dutasteride via Soluplus®-based supersaturable self-emulsifying drug delivery system (S-SEDDS), Int. J. Pharm. 478 (2015) 341–347. doi:10.1016/j.ijpharm.2014.11.060.
- [136] N. Thomas, R. Holm, M. Garmer, J.J. Karlsson, A. Müllertz, T. Rades, Supersaturated Self-Nanoemulsifying Drug Delivery Systems (Super-SNEDDS) Enhance the Bioavailability of the Poorly Water-Soluble Drug Simvastatin in Dogs, AAPS J. 15 (2013) 219–227. doi:10.1208/s12248-012-9433-7.
- [137] Y. Wei, X. Ye, X. Shang, X. Peng, Q. Bao, M. Liu, et al., Enhanced oral bioavailability of silybin by a supersaturatable self-emulsifying drug delivery system (S-SEDDS), Colloids Surfaces A Physicochem. Eng. Asp. 396 (2012) 22–28. doi:10.1016/j.colsurfa.2011.12.025.
- [138] J.Y. Lock, T.L. Carlson, R.L. Carrier, Mucus models to evaluate the diffusion of drugs and particles, Adv. Drug Deliv. Rev. (2017). doi:10.1016/j.addr.2017.11.001.
- [139] A. Runnsjö, A.P. Dabkowska, E. Sparr, V. Kocherbitov, T. Arnebrant, J. Engblom, Diffusion through pig gastric mucin: Effect of relative humidity, PLoS One. 11 (2016). doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0157596.

- [140] P. Occhipinti, P.C. Griffiths, Quantifying diffusion in mucosal systems by pulsedgradient spin-echo NMR, Adv. Drug Deliv. Rev. 60 (2008) 1570–1582. doi:10.1016/j.addr.2008.08.006.
- [141] P.C. Griffiths, P. Occhipinti, C. Morris, R.K. Heenan, S.M. King, M. Gumbleton, PGSE-NMR and SANS studies of the interaction of model polymer therapeutics with mucin, Biomacromolecules. 11 (2010) 120–125. doi:10.1021/bm9009667.
- [142] M. a Desai, M. Mutlu, P. Vadgama, A study of macromolecular diffusion through native porcine mucus., Experientia. 48 (1992) 22–26. doi:10.1007/BF01923598.
- [143] P.G. Bhat, D.R. Flanagan, M.D. Donovan, Drug diffusion through cystic fibrotic mucus: Steady-state permeation, rheologic properties, and glycoprotein morphology, J. Pharm. Sci. 85 (1996) 624–630. doi:10.1021/js950381s.
- [144] K. Khanvilkar, M.D. Donovan, D.R. Flanagan, Drug transfer through mucus., Adv. Drug Deliv. Rev. 48 (2001) 173–93. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/11369081.
- [145] M. Boegh, M. García-Díaz, A. Müllertz, H.M. Nielsen, Steric and interactive barrier properties of intestinal mucus elucidated by particle diffusion and peptide permeation, Eur. J. Pharm. Biopharm. (2015) 1–8. doi:10.1016/j.ejpb.2015.01.014.
- [146] N.N. Sanders, S.C. De Smedt, J. Demeester, The physical properties of biogels and their permeability for macromolecular drugs and colloidal drug carriers, J. Pharm. Sci. 89 (2000) 835–849. doi:10.1002/1520-6017(200007)89:7<835::AID-JPS1>3.0.CO;2-6.
- [147] H. Friedl, S. Dünnhaupt, F. Hintzen, C. Waldner, S. Parikh, J.P. Pearson, et al., Development and evaluation of a novel mucus diffusion test system approved by selfnanoemulsifying drug delivery Systems, J. Pharm. Sci. 102 (2013) 4406–4413. doi:10.1002/jps.23757.
- [148] S. Köllner, I. Nardin, R. Markt, J. Griesser, F. Prüfert, A. Bernkop-Schnürch, Selfemulsifying drug delivery systems: Design of a novel vaginal delivery system for curcumin, Eur. J. Pharm. Biopharm. 115 (2017) 268–275. doi:10.1016/j.ejpb.2017.03.012.
- [149] S. Dünnhaupt, J. Barthelmes, J. Hombach, D. Sakloetsakun, V. Arkhipova, A. Bernkop-Schnürch, Distribution of thiolated mucoadhesive nanoparticles on intestinal mucosa, Int. J. Pharm. 408 (2011) 191–199. doi:10.1016/j.ijpharm.2011.01.060.
- [150] A.W. Larhed, P. Artursson, J. Gråsjö, E. Björk, Diffusion of drugs in native and purified gastrointestinal mucus, J. Pharm. Sci. 86 (1997) 660–665. doi:10.1021/js960503w.
- [151] O. Zupančič, J.A. Grieβinger, J. Rohrer, I. Pereira de Sousa, L. Danninger, A. Partenhauser, et al., Development, in vitro and in vivo evaluation of a self-emulsifying drug delivery system (SEDDS) for oral enoxaparin administration, Eur. J. Pharm. Biopharm. 109 (2016) 113–121. doi:10.1016/j.ejpb.2016.09.013.
- [152] N.A. Efiana, T.N.Q. Phan, A.J. Wicaksono, A. Bernkop-Schnürch, Mucus permeating self-emulsifying drug delivery systems (SEDDS): About the impact of mucolytic

enzymes, Colloids Surfaces B Biointerfaces. 161 (2018) 228–235. doi:10.1016/j.colsurfb.2017.10.032.

- [153] S.C. De Smedt, A. Lauwers, J. Demeester, Y. Engelborghs, G. De Mey, M. Du, Structural information on hyaluronic acid solutions as studied by probe diffusion experiments, Macromolecules. 27 (1994) 141–146. doi:10.1021/ma00079a021.
- [154] T.K.L. Meyvis, S.C. De Smedt, P. Van Oostveldt, J. Demeester, Fluorescence recovery after photobleaching: A versatile tool for mobility and interaction measurements in pharmaceutical research, Pharm. Res. 16 (1999) 1153–1162. doi:10.1023/A:1011924909138.
- [155] W.M. Saltzman, M.L. Radomsky, K.J. Whaley, R. a Cone, Antibody diffusion in human cervical mucus., Biophys. J. 66 (1994) 508–515. doi:10.1016/S0006-3495(94)80802-1.
- [156] N.H. Afdhal, X. Cao, R. Bansil, Z. Hong, C. Thompson, B. Brown, et al., Interaction of mucin with cholesterol enriched vesicles: Role of mucin structural domains, Biomacromolecules. 5 (2004) 269–275. doi:10.1021/bm0341733.
- [157] J. Zhang, Y. Lv, B. Wang, S. Zhao, M. Tan, G. Lv, et al., Influence of Microemulsion-Mucin Interaction on the Fate of Microemulsions Diffusing through Pig Gastric Mucin Solutions, Mol. Pharm. 12 (2015) 695–705. doi:10.1021/mp500475y.
- [158] M.T. Valentine, P.D. Kaplan, D. Thota, J.C. Crocker, T. Gisler, R.K. Prud'homme, et al., Investigating the microenvironments of inhomogeneous soft materials with multiple particle tracking., Phys. Rev. E. Stat. Nonlin. Soft Matter Phys. 64 (2001) 061506. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/11736190.
- [159] M. Liu, J. Zhang, W. Shan, Y. Huang, Developments of mucus penetrating nanoparticles, Asian J. Pharm. Sci. 10 (2014) 275–282. doi:10.1016/j.ajps.2014.12.007.
- [160] S.K. Lai, Y.-Y. Wang, J. Hanes, Mucus-penetrating nanoparticles for drug and gene delivery to mucosal tissues., Adv. Drug Deliv. Rev. 61 (2009) 158–71. doi:10.1016/j.addr.2008.11.002.
- [161] M. Dawson, D. Wirtz, J. Hanes, Enhanced viscoelasticity of human cystic fibrotic sputum correlates with increasing microheterogeneity in particle transport., J. Biol. Chem. 278 (2003) 50393–401. doi:10.1074/jbc.M309026200.
- [162] S.K. Lai, J. Hanes, Real-time multiple particle tracking of gene nanocarriers in complex biological environments., in: Methods Mol. Biol., 2008: pp. 81–97. doi:10.1007/978-1-60327-248-3_6.
- [163] T. Savin, P.S. Doyle, Static and dynamic errors in particle tracking microrheology, Biophys. J. 88 (2005) 623–638. doi:10.1529/biophysj.104.042457.
- [164] J.S. Suk, A.J. Kim, K. Trehan, C.S. Schneider, L. Cebotaru, O.M. Woodward, et al., Lung gene therapy with highly compacted DNA nanoparticles that overcome the mucus barrier., J. Control. Release. 178 (2014) 8–17. doi:10.1016/j.jconrel.2014.01.007.

- [165] A.S. Klymchenko, E. Roger, N. Anton, H. Anton, I. Shulov, J. Vermot, et al., Highly lipophilic fluorescent dyes in nano-emulsions: Towards bright non-leaking nanodroplets, RSC Adv. 2 (2012) 11876–11886. doi:10.1039/c2ra21544f.
- [166] J. Rohrer, A. Partenhauser, S. Hauptstein, C.M. Gallati, B. Matuszczak, M. Abdulkarim, et al., Mucus permeating thiolated self-emulsifying drug delivery systems, Eur. J. Pharm. Biopharm. 98 (2016) 90–97. doi:10.1016/j.ejpb.2015.11.004.
- [167] S. Zaichik, C. Steinbring, C. Menzel, L. Knabl, D. Orth-Höller, H. Ellemunter, et al., Development of self-emulsifying drug delivery systems (SEDDS) for ciprofloxacin with improved mucus permeating properties, Int. J. Pharm. 547 (2018) 282–290. doi:10.1016/j.ijpharm.2018.06.005.
- [168] H. Friedl, S. Dünnhaupt, F. Hintzen, C. Waldner, S. Parikh, J.P. Pearson, et al., Development and Evaluation of a Novel Mucus Diffusion Test System Approved by Self-Nanoemulsifying Drug Delivery Systems, J. Pharm. Sci. 102 (2013) 4406–4413. doi:10.1002/jps.23757.
- [169] J. Apgar, Y. Tseng, E. Fedorov, M.B. Herwig, S.C. Almo, D. Wirtz, Multiple-particle tracking measurements of heterogeneities in solutions of actin filaments and actin bundles., Biophys. J. 79 (2000) 1095–106. doi:10.1016/S0006-3495(00)76363-6.
- [170] M. Abdulkarim, N. Agulló, B. Cattoz, P. Griffiths, A. Bernkop-Schnürch, S. Gómez Borros, et al., Nanoparticle diffusion within intestinal mucus: Three-dimensional response analysis dissecting the impact of particle surface charge, size and heterogeneity across polyelectrolyte, pegylated and viral particles, Eur. J. Pharm. Biopharm. 97 (2015) 230–238. doi:10.1016/j.ejpb.2015.01.023.
- [171] Y.-Y. Wang, S.K. Lai, C. So, C. Schneider, R. Cone, J. Hanes, Mucoadhesive nanoparticles may disrupt the protective human mucus barrier by altering its microstructure., PLoS One. 6 (2011) e21547. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0021547.
- [172] B.S. Schuster, J.S. Suk, G.F. Woodworth, J. Hanes, Nanoparticle diffusion in respiratory mucus from humans without lung disease., Biomaterials. 34 (2013) 3439–46. doi:10.1016/j.biomaterials.2013.01.064.
- [173] J. Rohrer, A. Partenhauser, S. Hauptstein, C.M. Gallati, B. Matuszczak, M. Abdulkarim, et al., Mucus permeating thiolated self-emulsifying drug delivery systems, Eur. J. Pharm. Biopharm. 98 (2016) 90–97. doi:10.1016/j.ejpb.2015.11.004.
- [174] S. Bonengel, M. Jelkmann, M. Abdulkarim, M. Gumbleton, V. Reinstadler, H. Oberacher, et al., Impact of different hydrophobic ion pairs of octreotide on its oral bioavailability in pigs, J. Control. Release. 273 (2018). doi:10.1016/j.jconrel.2018.01.012.
- [175] R.N. Gursoy, S. Benita, Self-emulsifying drug delivery systems (SEDDS) for improved oral delivery of lipophilic drugs, Biomed. Pharmacother. 58 (2004) 173–182. doi:10.1016/j.biopha.2004.02.001.

- [176] P. Joyce, T.J. Dening, T.R. Meola, H.B. Schultz, R. Holm, N. Thomas, et al., Solidification to improve the biopharmaceutical performance of SEDDS: Opportunities and challenges, Adv. Drug Deliv. Rev. (2018). doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.addr.2018.11.006.
- [177] D. Colombo, C.G. Egan, Bioavailability of Sandimmun® versus Sandimmun Neoral®: A Meta-Analysis of Published Studies, Int. J. Immunopathol. Pharmacol. 23 (2010) 1177–1183. doi:10.1177/039463201002300421.
- [178] B. Lei, W. Zha, Y. Wang, C. Wen, E.J. Studer, X. Wang, et al., Development of a novel self-microemulsifying drug delivery system for reducing HIV protease inhibitorinduced intestinal epithelial barrier dysfunction, Mol. Pharm. 7 (2010) 844–853. doi:10.1021/mp100003r.
- [179] H. Ling, J.T. Luoma, D. Hilleman, A Review of Currently Available Fenofibrate and Fenofibric Acid Formulations, Cardiol. Res. 4 (2013) 47–55. doi:10.4021/cr270w.